# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

# SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No. \_\_\_\_)

	iled by the Registrant.  □ led by a Party other than the Registrant					
Chec	ck the appropriate box:					
	Preliminary Proxy Statement  Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))  Definitive Proxy Statement  Definitive Additional Materials  Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12					
	DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC.					
	(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)					
	(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)					
Payr	ment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):					
	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.					



#### DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC.

1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310 Houston, Texas 77207

#### Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. ("DDH," "Direct Digital" or the "Company"), to be held virtually at 9:30 a.m. Central Time, on Monday, June 9, 2025. The Annual Meeting can be accessed by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025, where you will be able to listen to the meeting live, submit questions and vote online. At the Annual Meeting, the stockholders will be asked to (i) elect five directors for a term of one year until our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are duly elected and qualified in accordance with our Amended and Restated Bylaws ("Bylaws"), (ii) ratify the appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025, (iii) amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock issuable thereunder by 4,000,000 shares, (iv) approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation, (v) approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and (vi) transact any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment of the Annual Meeting. You will also have the opportunity to ask questions at the meeting.

Your vote is important. It is important that your stock be represented at the meeting regardless of the number of shares you hold. To be sure your vote counts and assure a quorum, please vote by mobile device or over the Internet, or if you received proxy materials by mail, vote, sign, date and return the proxy card accompanying the printed proxy materials, as soon as possible, regardless of whether you plan to virtually attend the meeting; or if you hold your shares through a bank, brokerage firm or other nominee, please follow the instructions for voting provided by your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee, regardless of whether you plan to attend the meeting virtually. If you virtually attend the Annual Meeting and wish to vote virtually, you may revoke your proxy at the meeting.

If you have any questions about the proxy statement or the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, please contact Diana P. Diaz, our Corporate Secretary, at (832) 402-1051.

We look forward to virtually seeing you at the Annual Meeting.

Sincerely,

Mark Walker *Chief Executive Officer* April 29, 2025 Houston, Texas

#### DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC. 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310 Houston, Texas 77027

#### NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Date: Monday, June 9, 2025

Time: 9:30 a.m. Central Time

Location: www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025

At the meeting, stockholders will be asked to:

- 1. Elect five directors for a term of one year until our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are duly elected and qualified in accordance with our Amended and Restated Bylaws;
- 2. Ratify the appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025;
- 3. Amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock issuable thereunder by 4,000,000 shares;
- 4. Approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation;
- 5. Approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; and
- 6. Transact any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment of the Annual Meeting.

We will hold our Annual Meeting in virtual format only, via live audio webcast at the date and time specified above, instead of holding the meeting at any physical location. Only those stockholders of record as of the close of business on the record date of April 14, 2025 are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting or any postponements or adjournments thereof. A complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for your inspection beginning May 31, 2025, at our offices located at 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027, between the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Central Time, each business day during the 10 days preceding the Annual Meeting, however, if we determine that a physical in-person inspection is not practicable, such list of stockholders may be made available electronically, upon request. You or your proxyholder may participate, vote, and examine our stockholder list at the Annual Meeting by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025 and using your 16-digit control number.

Please note the technical requirements for virtual attendance at the Annual Meeting, as described in the enclosed proxy statement under the heading 'Questions and Answers'

Pursuant to rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, we are providing access to our proxy materials over the Internet. On or about April 29, 2025, we will mail a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Internet Notice") to each of our stockholders of record and beneficial owners at the close of business on the record date. On the date of mailing the Internet Notice, all stockholders will have the ability to access all the proxy material on the website referred to in the Internet Notice. These proxy materials will be available free of charge.

# YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT!

Submitting your proxy card or voting over the Internet does not affect your right to vote virtually if you decide to virtually attend the Annual Meeting. You are urged to submit your proxy as soon as possible, regardless of whether or not you expect to virtually attend the Annual Meeting. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the Annual Meeting by (i) delivering written notice to our Corporate Secretary, Diana P. Diaz, at our address above, (ii) submitting a later-dated proxy card or voting over the Internet or mobile device at a later time, or (iii) virtually attending the Annual Meeting and voting. No revocation under (i) or (ii) will be effective unless written notice or the proxy card or updated vote over the Internet or mobile device is received by our Corporate Secretary at or before the Annual Meeting.

When you submit your proxy, you authorize Mark Walker, our Chief Executive Officer, and Diana P. Diaz, our Chief Financial Officer, to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting and on any adjournments of the Annual Meeting in accordance with your instructions.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Diana P. Diaz Corporate Secretary April 29, 2025 Houston, Texas

#### DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC.

1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310 Houston, Texas 77027 Phone: (832) 402-1051

# PROXY STATEMENT

This proxy statement is being made available via Internet access, beginning on or about April 29, 2025, to the owners of shares of common stock of Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. (the "Company," "our," "we," or "Direct Digital") as of April 14, 2025, in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our Board of Directors for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting").

The Annual Meeting can be accessed by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025 on Monday, June 9, 2025, at 9:30 a.m., Central Time. Our Board of Directors encourages you to read this document thoroughly and take this opportunity to vote, via proxy, on the matters to be decided at the Annual Meeting. This proxy procedure is necessary to permit all stockholders, some of whom may be unable to attend the Annual Meeting virtually, to vote on the matters described in this proxy statement. As discussed below, you may revoke your proxy at any time before your shares are voted at the Annual Meeting.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

	<u>3</u>
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	8
Our Board of Directors	8
Communicating with the Board of Directors	10
Audit Committee	11
Compensation Committee	11
Nominating Committee	12
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics	3
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES AND OTHER MATTERS	14
Audit Fees	14
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	16
OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	17
Executive Officers	17
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	19
	19
Summary Compensation Table	10
Executive Employment Agreements with our Named Executive Officers	19
Executive Employment Agreements with our Prained Executive Officers	20
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2024 Fiscal Year End	20
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	22
RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS	24
	28
STOCK OWNERSHIP OF OUR DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND 5% BENEFICIAL OWNERS	
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS; NOMINEES	30
PROPOSAL NO. 2 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF BDO USA, P.C. AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	31
PROPOSAL NO. 3 AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S 2022 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF	32
THE COMPANY'S CLASS A COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE THEREUNDER	32
PROPOSAL NO. 4 APPROVE AN AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION	40
TO PROVIDE FOR OFFICER EXCULPATION	
PROPOSAL NO. 5 APPROVE AN AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO DELETE THE WAIVER OF SECTION 203 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW	42
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	44
Householding of Annual Meeting Materials	44
Stockholder Proposals for Our 2026 Annual Meeting	44
Other Matters	44
Solicitation of Proxies	44
Incorporation of Information by Reference	45
Amendment to Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan	Annex A
Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Direct Digital Holdings, Inc.	Annex B

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

#### Q: What is the purpose of the Annual Meeting?

A. At the Annual Meeting, our stockholders will act upon the matters outlined in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders accompanying this proxy statement, including to (i) elect five directors for a term of one year until our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are duly elected and qualified in accordance with our Amended and Restated Bylaws ("Bylaws"), (ii) ratify the appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025, (iii) amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock issuable thereunder by 4,000,000 shares, (iv) approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation, (v) approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and (vi) transact any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

### Q: How can I attend the annual meeting and why is the Company holding the Annual Meeting in a virtual only format?

A. We are holding the Annual Meeting in a virtual format, rather than a meeting at any physical location, in order to encourage attendance and participation by a broader group of stockholders, while also reducing the costs and environmental impact associated with an in-person meeting.

To attend and participate in the Annual Meeting, stockholders will need to access the live audio webcast of the meeting. To do so, stockholders of record will need to visit www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025 and use their 16-digit Control Number provided in the Internet Notice to log in to this website, and beneficial owners of shares held in street name will need to follow the instructions provided by the bank, brokerage firm or other nominee that holds their shares. We encourage stockholders to log in to this website and access the webcast before the Annual Meeting's start time. Further instructions on how to attend, participate in and vote at the Annual Meeting, including how to demonstrate your ownership of our stock as of the record date, are available at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025. Please note you will only be able to attend and vote in the meeting using this website. All references to attending the Annual Meeting "in person" in this Proxy Statement mean attending the live webcast at the Annual Meeting.

#### Q: How do I submit questions at the Annual Meeting?

A: We are committed to engagement with our stockholders. You will be able to submit questions during our Annual Meeting by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025. While we will try to answer stockholder-submitted questions that comply with the meeting rules of conduct as determined by the chair of the meeting, we may not be able to answer questions due to time constraints. However, we reserve the right to edit profanity or other inappropriate language, or to exclude questions that are not pertinent to meeting matters or that are otherwise inappropriate. If we are unable to answer the questions at the Annual Meeting, subject to Delaware law, we will reserve our answers for individual outreach following the meeting.

#### Q: Who is entitled to vote at our Annual Meeting?

A: The record holders of each of our Class A Common Stock and our Class B Common Stock at the close of business on the record date, April 14, 2025, may vote at the Annual Meeting. Each share of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock entitles the holder thereof to one vote on all matters submitted to stockholders per share. There were 8,121,022 shares of Class A Common Stock and 10,798,000 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding on the record date and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. All shares of Class B Common Stock are held by Direct Digital Management, LLC ("DDM"), a Delaware limited liability company indirectly owned by Mark Walker, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Keith Smith, our President. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, including the address of and number of shares held by each stockholder of record, will be available for your inspection beginning May 31, 2025, at our offices located at 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027, between the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Central Time, each business day during the 10 days preceding the Annual Meeting, however, if we determine that a physical in-person inspection is not practicable, such list of stockholders may be made available electronically, upon request.

Stockholders of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If on the record date your shares were registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Equiniti, then you are a stockholder of record. As a stockholder of

record, you may vote virtually at the Annual Meeting or vote by proxy. Whether or not you plan to virtually attend the Annual Meeting, we urge you to vote over the Internet or by mobile device, or if you requested a printed copy of the proxy materials be mailed to you, fill out and return the proxy card enclosed therewith, to ensure your vote is counted.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Bank, Brokerage Firm, Custodian or Other Nominee If on the record date your shares were held in an account at a bank, brokerage firm or other nominee, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name" and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee on how to vote the shares in your account. You are also invited to virtually attend the Annual Meeting.

#### O: How do I vote?

A: You may vote during the Annual Meeting by following the instructions posted at www.proxyvote.com and entering your 16-digit control number included with the Internet Notice or proxy card, by use of a proxy card if you receive a printed copy of our proxy materials, or via internet or by mobile device as indicated in the proxy card or Internet Notice

Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or indirectly as the beneficial owner of shares held for you by a bank, brokerage firm or other nominee (i.e., in "street name"), you may direct your vote without attending the Annual Meeting. You may vote by granting a proxy or, for shares you hold in street name, by submitting voting instructions to your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee. In most instances, you will be able to do this by internet, mobile device or by mail. Please refer to the summary instructions below and those included on your Internet Notice, proxy card or, for shares you hold in street name, the voting instruction card provided by your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee.

- By Internet If you have Internet access, you may authorize your proxy from any location in the world as directed in the Internet Notice.
- By Mobile Device If you choose to vote by mobile device, scan the QR code imprinted on the proxy card or Internet Notice using either a smartphone or tablet and you will be taken directly to the Internet Voting site.
- By Mail (if you received a paper copy of the proxy materials by mail) -You may authorize your proxy by signing your proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed, postage-prepaid and addressed envelope. For shares you hold in street name, you may sign the voting instruction card included by your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee and mail it in the envelope provided.

#### Q: What if I have technical difficulties or trouble accessing the virtual Annual Meeting?

A: We will have technicians ready to assist you with any technical difficulties you may have accessing the virtual Annual Meeting. If you encounter any difficulties accessing the virtual Annual Meeting during the check-in or meeting time, please call the technical support number located on the meeting page. Technical support will be available starting at approximately 9:15 a.m., Central Time, on June 9, 2025.

#### Q: What is a proxy?

A: A proxy is a person you appoint to vote your shares on your behalf. If you are unable to virtually attend the Annual Meeting, our Board of Directors is seeking your appointment of a proxy so that your shares may be voted. If you vote by proxy, you will be designating Mark Walker, our Chief Executive Officer, and Diana P. Diaz, our Chief Financial Officer, as your proxies. Mr. Walker and/or Ms. Diaz may act on your behalf and have the authority to appoint a substitute to act as your proxy.

# Q: How will my shares be voted if I vote by proxy?

A: Your proxy will be voted according to the instructions you provide. If you complete and submit your proxy but do not otherwise provide instructions on how to vote your shares, your shares will be voted (i) "FOR" the five individuals nominated to serve as members of our Board of Directors, (ii) "FOR" the ratification of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025, (iii) "FOR" the amendment to the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common

Stock issuable thereunder, (iv) "FOR" the approval of the amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation and (v) "FOR" the approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Presently, our Board does not know of any other matter that may come before the Annual Meeting. However, your proxies are authorized to vote on your behalf, using their discretion, on any other business that properly comes before the Annual Meeting.

#### Q: How do I revoke my proxy?

- A: You may revoke your proxy at any time before your shares are voted at the Annual Meeting by:
- Sending a written notice that you are revoking your proxy to Diana P. Diaz, at our address above (so long as we receive such notice no later than the close of business on the day before the Annual Meeting);
- Submitting a later-dated proxy card or voting again via the Internet or mobile device; or
- Virtually attending the Annual Meeting and notifying the election officials at the Annual Meeting that you wish to revoke your proxy and vote virtually. Simply attending the Annual Meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy.

If your shares are held by your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee, you should follow the instructions provided by such bank, brokerage firm or other nominee.

#### Q: Is my vote confidential?

A: Yes. All votes remain confidential.

### Q: What constitutes a quorum at the Annual Meeting?

A: In accordance with Delaware law (the law under which we are incorporated) and our Bylaws, holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote at such meeting constitutes a quorum, thereby permitting the stockholders to conduct business at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions, votes withheld, and broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of the number of shares considered present at the Annual Meeting for purposes of determining the existence of a quorum.

If a quorum is not present at the Annual Meeting, a majority of the stockholders present virtually and by proxy may adjourn the meeting to another date. If an adjournment is for more than 30 days or if after an adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting by our Board, we will provide notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the originally called meeting.

#### Q: What vote is required to elect our directors for a one-year term?

A: The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes of the shares present, virtually at the Annual Meeting or by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required for the election of each of the nominees for director. This means that the five director nominees receiving the most "FOR" votes will be elected. You are not permitted to cumulate your votes for purposes of electing directors. Because this is an uncontested election, so long as each candidate receives at least one "FOR" vote, all director nominees will be elected and votes that are withheld will have no effect on the election of the directors. Broker non-votes occur when shares are held indirectly through a bank, brokerage firm or other nominee or intermediary on behalf of a beneficial owner (referred to as held in "street name") and the broker submits a proxy, but does not cast a vote on a matter because the broker has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner, and (i) the broker does not have discretionary voting authority on the matter or (ii) the broker chooses not to vote on a matter for which it has discretionary voting authority. Pursuant to the rules of the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), which governs brokers' use of discretionary authority, brokers are permitted to exercise discretionary voting authority only on "routine" matters when voting instructions have not been timely received from a beneficial owner. Brokerage firms do not have authority to vote customers' non-voted shares held by the firms in street name for the election of the directors because this proposal is not considered a "routine" matter under NYSE Rules. As a result, any shares not voted by a customer will be treated as a broker non-vote and have no effect on the results of this vote. Abstentions will also have no effect on the results of this vote. Abstentions will also have no effect on the results of this vote. Abstentions will also have no effect on the results of this vote. Abstentions will also have no effect on the results of this vote.

#### Q: What vote is required to ratify BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025?

A: The affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present, virtually at the Annual Meeting or by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to approve the ratification of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" this proposal. Because this proposal is considered a "routine" matter under NYSE rules, discretionary votes by brokers will be counted, and there will be no broker non-votes on this proposal.

# Q: What vote is required to amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock issuable thereunder?

A: The affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present, virtually at the Annual Meeting or by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock issuable thereunder. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" this proposal. However, broker non-votes will have no effect on the vote for this proposal as they are not considered to be present and entitled to vote on this matter.

#### Q: What vote is required to approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation?

A: The affirmative vote of the holders of the majority of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" this proposal.

# Q: What vote is required to approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law?

A: The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" this proposal.

#### Q: What percentage of our outstanding Class A Common Stock do our directors, executive officers, and 5% beneficial owners own?

A: As of March 31, 2025, our directors, executive officers, and 5% beneficial owners collectively owned, or had the right to acquire, approximately 6.2% of our outstanding Class A Common Stock and 100% of our Class B Common Stock. Because the holders of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock vote together as a single class, this means our directors, executive officers and 5% beneficial owners control approximately 62.8 % of the voting power of the Company. See the discussion under the heading "Stock Ownership of Our Directors, Executive Officers, and 5% Beneficial Owners" on page 28 for more details.

#### Q: Who was our independent public accountant for the year ended December 31, 2024? Will this firm be represented at the Annual Meeting?

A: BDO USA, P.C. is the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. We expect a representative of BDO USA, P.C. to be present virtually at the Annual Meeting. The representative will have an opportunity to make a statement and will be available to answer your questions.

#### Q: How can I obtain a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K?

A: We have filed our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 with the SEC. The annual report on Form 10-K is also available on the website referred to in the Internet Notice, in the "Investors" section our website at direct digital holdings.com and on the website of the SEC at sec.gov. You may obtain, free of charge, a copy of our

Annual Report on Form 10-K, including consolidated financial statements, by writing to our Corporate Secretary, Diana P. Diaz, or by email at contact@directdigitalholdings.com. Upon request, we will also furnish any exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC.

#### Q: How does the board of directors recommend that I vote my shares?

A: As to the proposals to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, our board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote:

- •"FOR" the election to the board of directors of each of the five nominees named in Proposal No. 1;
- "FOR" Proposal No. 2, the ratification of the selection of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025;
- "FOR" Proposal No. 3, the amendment of the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A common stock issuable thereunder;
- "FOR" Proposal No. 4, approval of an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation; and
- "FOR" Proposal No. 5, approval of an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

#### **Our Board of Directors**

Our Bylaws provide that our Board of Directors (our "Board") shall consist of no fewer than four nor more than 12 members, the number thereof to be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board. The Board most recently set the number of directors at five members. The following individuals are being nominated to serve on our Board (See "Proposal No. 1 — Election of Directors; Nominees"):

			Director
Name	Age	Position	Since
Mark D. Walker	49	Chairman of the Board	2021
Keith W. Smith	56	Director	2021
Richard Cohen	74	Director	2021
Antoinette R. Leatherberry	63	Director	2021
Mistelle Locke	48	Director	2023

The Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines provide our board of directors with flexibility to select the appropriate leadership structure at a particular time based on what our Board determines to be in the best interests of the Company. The Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that our Board has no established policy with respect to combining or separating the offices of chairman of the Board and principal executive officer. Currently, Mr. Walker, our Chief Executive Officer, serves as Chairman of our Board. Our Board determined that, at the present time, having our Chief Executive Officer also serve as the Chairman of our Board provides us with optimally effective leadership and is in our best interests and those of our stockholders. Mr. Walker co-founded the Company, and our Board believes that Mr. Walker's years of management experience in our industry as well as his extensive understanding of our business, operations and strategy make him well qualified to serve as Chairman of our board of directors. Ms. Leatherberry has served as our lead independent director since January 2022. As lead independent director, Ms. Leatherberry presides over periodic meetings of our independent directors, serves as a liaison between the chairman of our Board and the independent directors and performs such additional duties as our board of directors may otherwise determine and delegate.

Our Board has an active role, as a whole and also at the committee level, in overseeing the management of our risks. Our Board is responsible for general oversight of risks and regular review of information regarding our risks, including credit risks, liquidity risks and operational risks. Our compensation committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to our executive compensation plans and arrangements. Our audit committee is responsible for overseeing the management of our risks relating to accounting matters and financial reporting. Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for overseeing the management of our risks associated with the independence of our board of directors and potential conflicts of interest. While each committee is responsible for evaluating certain risks and overseeing the management of such risks, our entire Board is regularly informed through discussions from committee members about such risks. Our Board believes its administration of its risk oversight function has not affected our Board's leadership structure.

# **Director Independence**

The Company adheres to the corporate governance standards adopted by The Nasdaq Stock Market ("Nasdaq"). Nasdaq rules require our Board to make an affirmative determination as to the independence of each director. Consistent with these rules, our Board undertook its annual review of director independence on October 14, 2024 and determined that each of Richard Cohen, Antoinette R. Leatherberry and Mistelle Locke satisfy the independence standards established by applicable SEC rules and the rules of The Nasdaq Capital Market. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our Board has determined that none of our non-employee directors has a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that each of these non-employee directors is "independent" as that term is defined under the rules of The Nasdaq Capital Market. In making this determination, our Board considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances our Board deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director.

The table above and the following biographies set forth the names of our directors and director nominees, their ages, the year in which they first became directors, their positions with us, their principal occupations and employers for at least the past five years, any other directorships held by them during the past five years in companies that are subject to the

reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), or any company registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as well as additional information, all of which we believe sets forth each director nominee's qualifications to serve on the Board. There is no family relationship between or among any of our executive officers or directors. There are no arrangements or understandings between any of our executive officers or directors and any other person pursuant to which any of them are elected as an officer or director.

#### **Executive Officers**

Mark D. Walker. Mr. Walker is a co-founder of the Company and became our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on August 23, 2021 and, from 2018 until August 22, 2021, served in the role of Managing Partner of Direct Digital Holdings LLC, a subsidiary of the Company and our holding company prior to the completion of our initial public offering. Prior to founding Direct Digital with Mr. Smith, Mr. Walker worked at CVG Group, LLC ("CVG Group"), a private equity firm, from October 2016 to May 2019 as the Chief Operating Officer responsible for the operations of the portfolio companies within CVG Group's holdings. In this role, he was the Acting COO for Ebony Media Operations ("Ebony Media"), where he was responsible for initiating and overseeing the digital transformation of Ebony Media from a print publication to a digital-first organization. Prior to CVG Group and Ebony Media, he worked for the largest retail electricity provider within the United States, NRG Energy Inc. (NYSE: NRG), from 2005 to 2016, in positions of progressively increasing scope and responsibility. While at NRG Energy, he built multiple revenue streams through digital, retail and business development activities while increasing overall revenue to NRG Energy, where he represented approximately 40% of new revenue of NRG Energy Home division. Mr. Walker brings nearly 20 years of experience building relationships and revenue generating operations for Fortune 500 corporations, working in business development and marketing for Deloitte, and startup organizations. Throughout his career, Mr. Walker has sat on multiple advisory boards within the industry, such as Hitwise and Dentsu Aegis, and has written multiple articles and case studies that have been showcased in Jupiter Research and Search Engine Watch. We believe that Mr. Walker is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of the perspective and experience he brings as our Chief Executive Officer and a founder of the Company, as well as his other extensive executive experien

Keith W. Smith. Mr. Smith is a co-founder of the Company and became our President on August 23, 2021 and, from 2018 until August 22, 2021, served in the role of Managing Partner of DDH LLC. Prior to founding Direct Digital, Mr. Smith was a Managing Partner at Parkview Advisors, LLC, and President and CEO of Parkview Capital Credit, Inc., from November 2014 to April 2020, where he invested and managed more than \$75 million with small and mid-sized businesses to provide acquisition and growth capital. Prior to Parkview, Mr. Smith served as Managing Director for a private equity-led, direct lending platform, Capital Point Partners, where he invested and managed more than \$150 million in direct lending first lien, second lien and mezzanine investments, as well as complimentary minority equity investments. Prior to Capital Point Partners, he worked for Rabobank International ("RI") from 2006 to 2009, where he was a Vice President and Portfolio Manager of more than \$2 billion in direct lending and structured credit bank assets for one of the company's special investment vehicles. He played a key role in originating new client transactions as well as managing a book of existing bank clients. Prior to RI, he was an Associate Director in the Structured Finance Group of Standard & Poor's from 2003 to 2006, where he analyzed and rated transactions across a broad spectrum of asset types. In addition to his investment banking background, Mr. Smith also has over six years of legal experience as an attorney and has served on the boards of numerous portfolio companies. We believe that Mr. Smith is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of the perspective and experience he brings as our President and a co-founder of the Company, as well as his other executive experience and financial, investment and management experience. Mr. Smith holds a B.A. in Economics from The University of Texas at Austin; a J.D. from Southern Methodist University; and an M.B.A. from The Olin School of Business at Washington Uni

## **Non-Employee Directors**

Richard Cohen. Mr. Cohen became a member of our board of directors in November 2021. He has served as President of Richard M Cohen Consultants since 1996, where he provides corporate financial consulting services to a number of clients. Mr. Cohen served as Founder and Managing Partner of Chord Advisors from March 2012 to July 2015, a firm providing outsourced CFO services to both public and private companies. Prior to founding Chord Advisors, Mr. Cohen served as the Interim CEO, and as a member of the board of directors, of CorMedix Inc. (NASDAQ: CRMD), from March 2012 to July 2015. Mr. Cohen has also served as a partner with Novation Capital from July 2001 to August 2012 until its sale to a private equity firm. He has served as a member of numerous boards and committees, including as a member of the audit committee of Rodman and Renshaw, an investment banking firm, from July 2008 to August 2012, and as a member of the board of directors of Great Elm Capital Corp., a public company which operates as a management investment company, since March 2022; Smart for Life, Inc. (NASDAQ: SMFL), a public company which develops,

manufactures and sells nutritional and related products, from February 2022 to August 2022; 20/20 GeneSystems Inc., a private company in the digital diagnostics sector, since 2018; Ondas Networks, Inc. (NASDAQ: ONDS), a public company which provides private wireless data and drone solutions, since 2016; and Helix BioMedix, a former public company specializing in dermatology and consumer products, since 2005, where he has also served as a member of the audit committee. We believe that Mr. Cohen is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of his extensive financial experience, as well as his leadership and management skills gained from his prior board experience. He holds a B.S. with honors in Economics from the University of Pennsylvania Wharton School and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.

Antoinette R. Leatherberry. Ms. Leatherberry became a member of our board of directors in November 2021. Ms. Leatherberry retired from Deloitte, a consulting, audit, tax and advisory services company, in September 2020, where she served in a number of roles during her 30-year career, including Board Relations Leader for the Risk and Financial Advisory practice, from September 2017 to September 2020, and Principal, Technology Strategy, from 2008 to August 2017. She also served as President of the Deloitte Foundation, from 2016 until her retirement. Ms. Leatherberry has served as a member of the board of directors, audit committee, and human resource committee of Zoetis Inc. (NYSE: ZTS), a public animal health company, since December 2020, and as a member of the board of directors, the risk committee, the audit committee and the compensation committee of American Family Insurance Mutual Holding Company, Inc., a private mutual company, since January 2021. She has also served on the Widener University Board of Trustees since 2015, where she chairs the Nominating and Governance Committee, and the Boston University Board of Trustees since September 2020, where she chairs the Nominating and Governance Committee, and the Boston University Board of Trustees since September 2020. We believe that Ms. Leatherberry is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of her extensive experience with complex technology transformations, her strategic digital technology experience, and her corporate governance expertise. She holds a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Boston University, an M.B.A. in Operations Management and Supervision from Northeastern University, and an Ed.D. in Higher Education from Widener University.

Mistelle Locke. Ms. Locke was appointed to our Board in January 2023, upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Locke served as an advisor to the Board from February 2022 through January 2023. She previously served as Chief Marketing Officer for industry leader Dentsu Media. Prior to that, Ms. Locke served in several senior executive positions for iProspect, including President of iProspect Americas, Global Chief Client Officer and Global Chief Marketing Officer. Ms. Locke transformed iProspect, a company that she helped grow through a merger in 2008 with her company, Range Online Media, from an SEO brand into the largest and most innovative digital media and performance agency in the world scaled across more than 90 markets with more than 8,000 media and performance specialists. In her career, Ms. Locke has worked with some of the world's most iconic brands, including General Motors, Adidas, NIKE, The GAP Brands, Microsoft, Estéc Laudier Companies, Accor Hotels, Burberry, Heineken and Kering. She also received the e-Microsoft Bing "Lifetime Achievement" award, for her contribution to the digital advertising industry, and Fast Company listed her on its list of "25 Top Women Business Builders." We believe Ms. Locke is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of her tremendous amount of industry insight and expertise and will be a valuable asset for the senior leadership team and our strategic decision-making. She holds a Bachelor's Degree in Corporate Communications from the University of Texas.

#### Meetings

During 2024, our Board held ten meetings and took action by unanimous written consent six times. Our independent directors have regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are present. Each incumbent director attended at least 75% of the total number of meetings of the board of directors and the committees on which he or she served during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. The permanent committees established by our Board are the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, descriptions of which are set forth in more detail below. Our directors are expected to attend each Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and it is our expectation that all of the directors standing for election will attend this year's Annual Meeting. All of our directors attended the 2024 annual meeting of stockholders.

### Communicating with the Board of Directors

Our Board has established a process by which stockholders can send communications to the Board. You may communicate with the Board as a group, or to specific directors, by writing to Diana P. Diaz, our Corporate Secretary, at our offices located 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027. The Corporate Secretary will review all such correspondence and regularly forward to our Board a summary of all correspondence and copies of all correspondence that, in the opinion of the Corporate Secretary, deals with the functions of the Board or committees thereof or that he

otherwise determines requires their attention. Directors may at any time review a log of all correspondence we receive that is addressed to members of our Board and request copies of any such correspondence. Concerns relating to accounting, internal controls, or auditing matters may be communicated in this manner, or may be submitted on an anonymous basis via e-mail at compliance@directdigitalholdings.com. These concerns will be immediately brought to the attention of our Board and handled in accordance with procedures established by our Board.

#### Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Mr. Cohen and Mses. Leatherberry and Locke. The Audit Committee held twelve meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. Under the Nasdaq listing rules and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act ("Rule 10A-3"), the audit committee is required to be comprised of at least three directors who meet certain independence and experience standards. Our board of directors has determined that each of Mr. Cohen and Mses. Leatherberry and Locke satisfy the independence requirements under the Nasdaq listing standards and Rule 10A-3. The chair of our audit committee is Mr. Cohen, whom our board of directors determined is an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of SEC regulations.

Each member of our audit committee can read and understand fundamental consolidated financial statements in accordance with applicable requirements.

The primary purpose of the audit committee is to discharge the responsibilities of our board of directors with respect to our corporate accounting and financial reporting processes, systems of internal control and financial statement audits, and to oversee our independent registered public accounting firm. Specific responsibilities of our audit committee include:

- •helping our board of directors oversee our corporate accounting and financial reporting processes;
- •reviewing and discussing with management all press releases regarding our financial results and any other information provided to securities analysts and rating agencies, including any non-GAAP financial information;
- managing the selection, engagement, qualifications, independence and performance of a qualified firm to serve as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit our consolidated financial statements;
- discussing the scope and results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm, and reviewing, with management and the independent accountants, our interim and year-end operating results;
- •developing procedures for employees to submit concerns anonymously about questionable accounting or audit matters;
- •reviewing and approving any related-party transactions, after reviewing each such transaction for potential conflicts of interests and other improprieties;
- obtaining and reviewing a report by the independent registered public accounting firm at least annually that describes our internal quality control procedures, any material issues with such procedures and any steps taken to deal with such issues when required by applicable law;
- •approving or, as permitted, pre-approving, audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm; and
- •reviewing and investigating conduct alleged to be in violation of our code of business conduct and ethics, and adopting, as necessary or appropriate, remedial, disciplinary, or other measures with respect to such conduct.

Our audit committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable Nasdaq listing standards, which is available at https://ir.directdigitalholdings.com/corporate-governance/governance/documents and is reviewed on an annual basis by our audit committee.

The report of the Audit Committee can be found on page 16 of this proxy statement.

# Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Mr. Cohen and Mses. Leatherberry and Locke, each of whom, our board of directors determined, is independent under the Nasdaq listing standards and is a "non-employee director" as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The chair of our compensation committee is Ms. Locke. The compensation committee held five meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

The primary purpose of our compensation committee is to discharge the responsibilities of our board of directors in overseeing our compensation policies, plans and programs and to review and determine the compensation to be paid to our executive officers, directors and other senior management, as appropriate.

Specific responsibilities of our compensation committee include:

- reviewing and advising the board of directors concerning our overall compensation philosophy, policies and plans, including reviewing both regional and industry
  compensation practices and trends;
- •reviewing and approving corporate and personal performance goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the Company's chief executive officer, and making recommendations to the board of directors regarding all executive officer executive compensation (including but not limited to salary, bonus, incentive compensation, equity awards, benefits and perquisites);
- •reviewing, adopting, amending and terminating incentive compensation and equity plans, severance agreements, profit-sharing plans, bonus plans, change-of-control protections and any other compensatory arrangements for our executive officers and other senior management;
- •reviewing and discussing with management the disclosures regarding executive compensation to be included in our public filings or stockholder reports;
- •reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the compensation paid to our directors; and
- · overseeing, jointly with the full board, engagement with proxy advisory firms on executive compensation matters.

Our compensation committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable Nasdaq listing standards, which is available at https://ir.directdigitalholdings.com/corporate-governance/governance/documents and is reviewed on an annual basis by our audit committee.

#### Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Mr. Cohen and Mses. Leatherberry and Locke, each of whom, our board of directors determined, is independent under the Nasdaq listing standards. The chair of our nominating and corporate governance committee is Ms. Leatherberry. The nominating and corporate governance committee held four meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Specific responsibilities of our nominating and corporate governance committee include:

- evaluating or recommending to our board of director nominees for each election of directors, except that if we are at any time legally required by contract or otherwise to provide any third party with the ability to nominate a director, our nominating and corporate governance committee need not evaluate or propose such nomination, unless required by contract or requested by our board of directors;
- determining criteria for selecting new directors, including desired board skills, experience and attributes;
- · considering any nominations of director candidates validly made by our stockholders;
- •reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors concerning qualifications, appointment and removal of committee members;
- •developing, recommending for approval by our board of directors and reviewing on an ongoing basis the adequacy of the corporate governance principles applicable to us, including, but not limited to, director qualification standards, director responsibilities, committee responsibilities, director access to management and independent advisors, director compensation, director orientation and continuing education, management succession and annual performance evaluation;
- •reviewing and making recommendations regarding the committee structure and composition;
- •reviewing and recommending to our board of directors changes to our bylaws as needed;
- •developing orientation materials for new directors and corporate governance-related continuing education for all directors; and
- · overseeing succession planning for executive officers.

Our nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable Nasdaq listing standards, which is available at https://ir.directdigitalholdings.com/corporate-governance/governance-documents and is reviewed on an annual basis by our audit committee.

#### **Code of Business Conduct and Ethics**

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics. Our code of business conduct and ethics is intended to document the principles of conduct and ethics to be followed by all of our directors, officers and employees. Its purpose is to promote honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest. The full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is posted on the investor relations section of our website at https://ir.directdigitalholdings.com/corporate-governance-documents. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our code of business conduct and ethics, or waivers of these provisions, on our website or in filings under the Exchange Act.

#### **Insider Trading Policy**

The Company has adopted an insider trading policy (the "Insider Trading Policy") that governs the purchase, sale, and/or other transactions of our securities by our directors, officers and employees. A copy of our insider trading policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. In addition, with regard to the Company's trading in its own securities, it is the Company's policy to comply with the federal securities laws and the applicable exchange listing requirements.

# Policy Prohibiting Hedging and Speculative Trading

Pursuant to our Insider Trading Policy, our directors, executive officers and employees are prohibited from engaging in speculative trading, including short-term trading, short sales, options trading, trading on margin or pledging or hedging transactions with respect to Company securities.

#### INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES AND OTHER MATTERS

BDO USA, P.C. is the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. We expect a representative of BDO USA, P.C. to be present at the Annual Meeting. The representative will have an opportunity to make a statement and will be available to answer your questions (see "Questions and Answers" for more information regarding submitting questions).

Our Board has asked the stockholders to ratify the selection of BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025. See "Proposal No. 2: Ratification of Appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" on page 31 of this proxy statement. The Board has reviewed the fees described below and concluded that the payment of such fees is compatible with maintaining BDO USA, P.C. independence. All proposed engagements of BDO USA, P.C., whether for audit services, audit-related services, tax services, or permissible non-audit services, were pre-approved by our Audit Committee.

#### **Audit Fees and Services**

The following table summarizes the fees BDO USA, P.C. billed to us for the last two fiscal years.

	Years Ended December 31,			nber 31,
Fee Category		2024		2023
Audit Fees (1) (BDO USA, P.C.)	\$	895,305	\$	850,763
Total Fees	\$	895,305	\$	850,763

<sup>(1)</sup> Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered by BDO USA, P.C. for the audits of our annual consolidated financial statements, the reviews of our interim consolidated financial statements, and related services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

#### Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

As previously reported, on April 17, 2024, Marcum LLP notified the Company and the Audit Committee of Marcum LLP's decision to resign as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company, effective immediately. Marcum LLP did not provide a report for either of the Company's last two fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

As previously reported, on June 10, 2024, following a competitive review process conducted by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee approved the engagement of BDO USA, P.C. as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The Audit Committee also appointed BDO USA, P.C. to serve as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, and the subsequent interim period through the date of BDO USA, P.C.'s appointment, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf has consulted with BDO USA, P.C. regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company's consolidated financial statements, and neither a written report was provided to the Company nor oral advice was provided that BDO USA, P.C. concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of disagreement (as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and related instructions) or a reportable event (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions).

#### **Predecessor Audit Fees and Services**

Marcum LLP was our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2022. The following table summarizes the fees Marcum LLP billed to us for the last two fiscal years.

	Years Ended	December 31,
Fee Category	2024	2023
·		-

Audit Fees (1) (Marcum LLP)	\$ 28,034	\$ 734,298
Total Fees	\$ 28,034	\$ 734,298

<sup>(1)</sup> Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered by Marcum LLP for the audits of our annual consolidated financial statements, the reviews of our interim consolidated financial statements, and related services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. For 2023, amounts represent audit fees related to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 prior to its decision to resign as the Company's independent registered accounting firm. For 2024, this balance consists of fees for assurance and related services performed by Marcum LLP that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are traditionally performed by the independent registered public accounting firm. These include services related to consultation with respect to special procedures required to meet certain regulatory requirements.

#### **Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures**

Our audit committee has and will pre-approve all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be performed for us by our auditors, including the fees and terms thereof (subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in the Exchange Act which are approved by the audit committee prior to the completion of the audit). All of the fees paid to BDO USA, P.C. and Marcum LLP in the year ended December 31, 2024 were pre-approved by the audit committee.

#### REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

In monitoring the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, the Audit Committee met with both management and BDO USA, P.C., our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2024, to review and discuss all consolidated financial statements prior to their issuance and to discuss any and all significant accounting issues. Management and our independent registered public accounting firm advised the Audit Committee that each of the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Audit Committee's review with BDO USA, P.C. included a discussion of the matters required to be discussed pursuant to the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") and the SEC including, among other things, the following:

- •Methods used to account for significant or unusual transactions;
- The effect of any accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus;
- The process used by management to formulate sensitive accounting estimates and the basis for the independent registered public accounting firm's conclusion regarding the reasonableness of any such estimates; and
- Any disagreements with management over the application of accounting principles, the basis for management's accounting estimates and the disclosures necessary in the
  consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from BDO USA, P.C., as required by the standards of the PCAOB, regarding BDO USA, P.C.'s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with BDO USA, P.C. their independence.

Finally, the Audit Committee continues to monitor the scope and adequacy of our internal controls and other procedures, including any and all proposals for adequate staffing and for strengthening internal procedures and controls where appropriate and necessary.

On the basis of these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that it approve the inclusion of our audited consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, for filing with the SEC.

The Audit Committee reviewed its written charter previously adopted by our Board. Following this review, the Audit Committee determined that no changes needed to be made with respect to the Audit Committee charter at this time.

By the Audit Committee Richard Cohen Antoinette R. Leatherberry Mistelle Locke

#### **OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS**

#### **Executive Officers**

Our current executive officers are as follows:

Name	Age	Position
Mark D. Walker	49	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Keith W. Smith	56	President and Director
Diana P. Diaz	61	Chief Financial Officer
Anu Pillai	55	Chief Technology Officer
Maria Vilchez Lowrey	43	Chief Growth Officer

No executive officer is related by blood, marriage or adoption to any other director or executive officer.

Mark D. Walker. See the section titled "Corporate Governance - Our Board of Directors."

Keith W. Smith. See the section titled "Corporate Governance – Our Board of Directors."

Diana P. Diaz. Ms. Diaz became our Chief Financial Officer in October 2023 after serving as the Company's interim Chief Financial Officer since June 2023. Ms. Diaz joined the Company from Sharps Compliance Corp. (previously Nasdaq listed (SMED) until its acquisition), a leading national healthcare waste management provider to customers in multiple healthcare-related markets, specializing in regulated waste streams including medical, pharmaceutical and hazardous, where she served for a total of 13 years, including as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from June 2010 to February 2022. Ms. Diaz's prior positions include Chief Financial Officer of University General Hospital in Houston, Texas from September 2006 to May 2009, Controller at Memorial Hermann Healthcare System, Texas Medical Center from September 2002 to August 2006 and Controller of the wholesale group at Reliant Energy from July 1998 to May 2002. Ms. Diaz started her career at Deloitte & Touche LLP where she worked from July 1985 to June 1998, ending her tenure at that firm as Audit Senior Manager. Ms. Diaz received her BBA in Accounting from The University of Texas at Austin and her MBA from Rice University's Jesse H. Jones Graduate School of Management.

Anu Pillai. Ms. Pillai was named Chief Technology Officer of Direct Digital in March 2021. Ms. Pillai brings extensive experience in defining and executing new product development solutions as well as large enterprise IT implementations and has successfully led global projects with complete responsibility for cross-functional teams in program management, product design, software development, system architecture, cybersecurity, integration and implementation. Prior to serving at Digital Direct Holdings, Ms. Pillai held executive positions and led digital transformations at several companies, including BLK/OPL, a direct-to-consumer e-commerce cosmetic brand, from 2019 to 2021, where she served as SVP, Digital Technology & Ecommerce, and Ebony Media, publisher of the iconic EBONY magazine, from 2011 to 2019, where she served as SVP, Digital Technology & Monetization. She was responsible at both of these companies for the execution of all technology and digital initiatives including system design and architecture, development, project management, resource planning of onsite/offshore resources and monetization across all digital properties with specific emphasis on increasing revenues through various programmatic channels. Prior to that, Ms. Pillai held leadership roles with leading Fortune 50 technology and infrastructure companies, such as General Electric, from 2005 to 2007, where she served as an IT leaser; Intel Corporation, from 2000 to 2003, where she served as a Senior Software Engineer; and Motorola, from 1996 to 1998, where she served as an analyst, and we believe she has proven experience in managing and leading small and large global development teams with technology resources spread across the U.S., China, Mexico and India. Ms. Pillai holds a B.S. in Computer Science and Engineering from Bharathiar in India.

Maria Vilchez Lowrey. Ms. Lowrey was named Chief Growth Officer of Direct Digital in August 2022. Ms. Lowrey is responsible for leading business development, channel development, and integrating the management of brand related marketing activities across Direct Digital's portfolio of brands. With over 20 years of senior level leadership experience working across energy, home services, and steel sectors, Ms. Lowrey has delivered game-changing business transformation initiatives for Fortune 500 retail giants and multi-billion-dollar companies. As an energetic and ambitious leader, she has a passion for building new customer acquisition sales channels, scaling sales channels, and forging relationships that deliver material growth through B2B or B2B2C strategic partnerships. Her strategic partnerships encompass launching transformational energy retail programs for well-known brands like Sam's Club, Home Depot, Kroger, Best Buy, and AT&T / DIRECTV. Ms. Lowrey comes to Direct Digital from Just Energy, where she served as Senior Vice President of Direct Sales and Partnerships for Just Energy Group (OTC: JE), Amigo Energy, Tara Energy, and

Terrapass, its affiliate brands from December 2016 to August 2022. There, she was responsible for diversifying the company's direct sales channels by launching its first national retail partnership with one of the largest retailers in the world. Prior to that, she served in various key management positions across sales leadership, business development, operations, and project management at NRG Energy, Inc. (NYSE: NRG) from 2007 to 2016, primarily responsible for building new go-to-market sales channels and developing strategic partnerships with the most well-known brands in the country. Prior to NRG, Ms. Lowrey started her career in the steel industry as global supply chain transportation and procurement manager serving large multi-national consumer companies. Ms. Lowrey spends her free time as a strong advocate of community service, serving on non-profit boards such as Homemade Hope and is on the advisory board for Houston Arts Alliance and Dress for Success Houston which all help underserved communities, especially Hispanics, African Americans and women. Ms. Lowrey holds a B.S. in Management Information Systems from Texas A&M University.

#### EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We have opted to comply with the executive compensation disclosure rules applicable to "smaller reporting companies," as such term is defined in the rules promulgated under the Securities Act. In accordance with these rules, our "named executive officers" for fiscal year 2024 were:

- · Mark Walker, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer;
- · Keith Smith, President and Director; and
- · Diana P. Diaz, Chief Financial Officer.

#### **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of our named executive officers for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 below.

Name and principal		Salary	Nonequity incentive plan compensation	Stock awards	Option awards	All other compensation	Total
position	Year	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)(1)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)
Mark Walker	2024	500,000	_	_		25,000 (2)	525,000
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	2023	530,200	380,335	276,844	71,759	_	1,259,138
Keith Smith	2024	500,000	_	_	_	25,000 (2)	525,000
President	2023	530,200	380,335	276,844	71,759	_	1,259,138
Diana P. Diaz	2024	350,000	_	_	_	10,000 (2)	360,000
Chief Financial Officer	2023 (3)	75,000	88,742	45,879	28,762	_	238,383

- (1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating these values are described in Note 2 Basis of Presentation and Consolidation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Company's consolidated financial statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
- (2) These amounts represent cash stipends to be used for individual benefits of the executive's choosing.
- (3) Ms. Diaz was employed by Vaco, LLC, a consulting firm, to which we paid a total of \$290,000 in fees for fiscal year 2023, prior to Ms. Diaz joining the Company in October 2023.

#### **Annual Incentive Program**

Our named executive officers are each eligible to participate in an annual incentive program. Under this program, each participating executive has a target annual incentive amount and may earn between zero and 150% of that target amount based on the Company's achievement of specified goals for revenue and EBITDA performance. For 2024 and 2023, Messrs. Walker and Smith and Ms. Diaz had target annual incentive amounts equal to 75%, 75% and 50% of their base salaries, respectively. Based on 2023 corporate performance, they each earned annual incentive payouts equal to 85% of their target amounts. The earned annual incentive payouts in 2024 for 2023 performance are reported in the Summary Compensation Table above under the heading "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" and were paid in cash. The earned annual incentive payouts for 2023 were paid in 2024 in the form of unrestricted shares of our common stock. Based on 2024 corporate performance, there were no payouts for 2024.

# **Executive Employment Agreements with our Named Executive Officers**

Messrs. Walker and Smith and Ms. Diaz have each entered into employment agreements with our subsidiary DDH LLC. The employment agreements set forth their annual base salaries of \$500,000, \$500,000 and \$350,000, respectively, their eligibility for annual bonuses and long-term incentive awards, the at-will nature of their employment, certain expense

reimbursements, and their eligibility to participate in our benefit plans generally. In addition, the employment agreements include customary non-competition, non-solicitation, non-disparagement, confidentiality, and intellectual property covenants.

The severance provisions of each executive's employment agreement are substantially the same. If the executive's employment ceases for any reason, the executive will be entitled to receive (i) accrued but unpaid base salary through the termination date, (ii) reimbursement for any unreimbursed and reasonable business expenses incurred through the termination date consistent with the expense reimbursement policy of DDH LLC, (iii) payout of accrued but unpaid paid-time-off days, if required by applicable law; and (iv) any other payments, benefits, or fringe benefits to which he or she is entitled as of the termination date under any applicable plan, program or grant.

In addition, if the executive's employment is terminated by DDH LLC without "cause" or by the executive for "good reason", in either case prior to a "change in control" (as those terms are defined in the executive's employment agreement), the executive will be entitled to continuation of his or her base salary for twelve months. However, if such termination without cause or resignation with good reason occurs upon or following a Change in Control, the executive's period of base salary continuation will be extended from twelve to twenty-four months and the executive will also be entitled to a lump sum payment equal to his or her target bonus for the year of separation. In each case, these severance payments will be conditioned on the executive's execution of a general release of claims.

#### **Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End**

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding equity awards held by the Company's named executive officers as of December 31, 2024.

Name and principal position	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options/ Warrant Exercisable (#)	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Unexercisable (#) <sup>(1)</sup>	Option/ Warrant Exercise Price (\$)	Option/ Warrant Expiration Date	Number of Shares of Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) <sup>(2)</sup>	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (S)
Mark Walker	40,600	20,300 (3)	\$ 1.62	6/10/2032	20,300 (3)	\$ 32,886
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	9,970	19,940 (4)	3.96	3/20/2033	12,398 (4)	49,096
Keith Smith	40,600	20,300 (3)	\$ 1.62	6/10/2032	20,300 (3)	\$ 32,886
President	9,970	19,940 (4)	3.96	3/20/2033	12,398 (4)	49,096
Diana Diaz	6,216	12,434 (5)	2.46	10/16/2033	12,434 (5)	\$ 30,588

- Options vest in equal annual installments over the three years after the option grant date. Each option is subject to the condition that the optione will have remained employed by the Company, or any one or more of its subsidiaries, through such
- Restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments over the three years after the restricted stock unit grant date. Each restricted stock unit is subject to the condition that the recipient will have remained employed by the Company, or any one or more of its subsidiaries, through such vesting dates. The relevant grant dates are indicated in the footnotes below.

  The grant date of this award was June 10, 2022.
- The grant date of this award was March 20, 2023
- The grant date of this award was October 16, 2023

# Other Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a safe harbor, defined contribution 401(k) and profit-sharing plan (the "401(k) Plan") that allows eligible employees to defer a percentage of their compensation. The Company matches employee contributions up to a maximum of 100% of the participant's salary deferral, limited to 4% of the employee's eligible salary. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the maximum matching contribution an eligible employee could receive under the 401(k) Plan was \$13,800. Additionally, the Company may make a discretionary profit-sharing contribution to the 401(k) Plan. During the year ended December 31, 2024, no profit-sharing contributions were made.

#### Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table contains information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2024.

	Equity Compensation Plan Information				
Plan Category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Weighted- average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a))		
	(a)	<b>(b)</b>	(c)		
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	594,627 (1) \$	2.49 (2)	2,452,030 (3)		
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	_	_		
Total	594,627 (1) \$	2.49 (2)	2,452,030 (3)		

- (1) Includes stock options and restricted stock units with respect to 335,883 and 258,744 shares of our common stock, respectively.
- (2) Restricted stock units have no exercise price and are therefore not included in the calculation of this weighted average exercise price.
- (3) Represents the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance in respect of awards under our 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan. In addition to stock options and restricted stock units, our 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan authorizes the issuance of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and stock bonus awards. All shares reserved for issuance under this plan are available for issuance in respect of any type of award that may be made under the plan.

# **Clawback Policy**

In 2023, the Company adopted a clawback policy (the "Clawback Policy") to comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act, SEC rules and the Nasdaq Stock Market's listing rules, such that in the event of an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, the Company is required to seek recoupment of certain cash and performance-based equity incentive compensation received or deemed to be received by the Company's current or former executive officers to the extent such compensation is determined to have been erroneously paid. The recovery of such compensation applies regardless of whether an executive officer engaged in misconduct or otherwise caused or contributed to the requirement for a restatement. The policy is administered by the Company's Board of Directors or, if so designated by the Board of Directors, a committee of the Board of Directors. Any determinations made by the Board of Directors or a committee to which the Board's authority under the Clawback Policy has been delegated shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

#### DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

#### **Director Compensation**

Non-employee director compensation for the year ended December 31, 2024 is shown in the table below:

	Fees earned or	Stock	
	paid in cash	awards	
Name	(\$)	(\$)(1)(2)	Total (\$)
Richard Cohen	40,000	21,009	61,009
Antoinette R. Leatherberry	53,500	21,009	74,509
Mistelle Locke	35,000	21,009	56,009

- (1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating these values are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
- (2) Unvested restricted stock unit awards held by our non-employee directors as of December 31, 2024 are summarized in the following table:

	Shares to Award	
Name	(#)	Grant Date
Richard Cohen	16,462	June 10, 2022
	16,410	June 12, 2023
Antoinette R. Leatherberry	16,462	June 10, 2022
	16,410	June 12, 2023
Mistelle Locke	14,493	January 16, 2023
	16,410	June 12, 2023

Our non-employee director compensation policy is designed to enable us to attract and retain, on a long-term basis, highly qualified non-employee directors. Under the policy each director who is not an employee is paid cash compensation as set forth below:

#### **Annual Retainer**

Board of Directors:	
All non-employee members	\$ 30,000
Additional retainer for non-executive chairperson	\$ 20,000
Audit Committee:	
Members	\$ _
Additional retainer for chair	\$ 10,000
Compensation Committee:	
Members	\$ _
Additional retainer for chair	\$ 5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee:	
Members	\$ _
Additional retainer for chair	\$ 3,500

These fees are payable in four equal quarterly installments, provided that the amount of such payment will be prorated for any portion of such quarter that the director is not serving on our board of directors or any committee of the board of directors. We also reimburse our non-employee directors for reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in connection with attending our board of directors and committee meetings. In February 2025, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors increased the annual retainer payable to all non-employee members of the Board of Directors from \$30,000 to \$40,000 effective January 1, 2025.

# **Equity Awards**

We have no fixed policy regarding the issuance of equity awards to our non-employee directors. However, our board of directors has in recent years approved annual awards of restricted stock units to our non-employee directors. Those awards generally vest over a period of time, typically one to three years and subject to the continued service of the grantee, although vesting may accelerate in certain circumstances, such as in connection with a change in control.

#### RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Since January 1, 2024, except as described herein, the Company has not been a party to any transaction in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000, and in which any of its directors, named executive officers or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company's capital stock, or an affiliate or immediate family member thereof, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, and other than compensation, termination, and change-in-control arrangements.

The written charter of the Audit Committee authorizes, and the Nasdaq Stock Market listing rules require, the Audit Committee to review and approve related-party transactions. In reviewing related-party transactions, the Audit Committee applies the basic standard that transactions with affiliates should be made on terms no less favorable to the Company than could have been obtained from unaffiliated parties. Therefore, the Audit Committee reviews the benefits of the transactions, terms of the transactions and the terms available from unrelated third parties, as applicable. All transactions other than compensatory arrangements between the Company and its officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates will be approved by the Audit Committee or a majority of the disinterested directors, and will continue to be on terms no less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

The following are summaries of certain provisions of transactions since the beginning of our last fiscal year to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved exceeds or will exceed \$120,000 and in which any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or immediate family member thereof, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to all of the provisions of such agreements.

We believe the terms obtained or consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described below were comparable to terms available or the amounts that we would pay or receive, as applicable, in arm's-length transactions.

#### Tax Receivable Agreement

We expect to obtain an increase in our share of the tax basis of the assets of DDH LLC when (as described below under "— DDH LLC Agreement — LLC Unit Redemption Right") DDM (a) redeems or exchanges its LLC Units for newly issued shares of our Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis and (b) receives payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (such basis increase, a "Basis Adjustment"). We intend to treat such redemptions or exchanges of LLC Units as the direct purchase of LLC Units by Direct Digital Holdings from DDM for U.S. federal income and other applicable tax purposes, regardless of whether such LLC Units are surrendered by DDM to DDH LLC for redemption or sold to Direct Digital Holdings upon the exercise of our election to acquire such LLC Units directly. A Basis Adjustment may have the effect of reducing the amounts that we would otherwise pay in the future to various tax authorities to the extent that we have positive taxable income in a future tax period that is offset by tax depreciation or amortization deductions arising from such Basis Adjustment. The Basis Adjustments may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets, which could also generate tax savings for us.

We entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with DDH LLC and DDM. The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for our payment to DDM of 85% of the amount of tax benefits, if any, that we actually realize, or in some circumstances, are deemed to realize (calculated using certain assumptions), as a result of any Basis Adjustments and certain other tax benefits arising from payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. DDH LLC has, in effect, an election under Section 754 of the Code effective for each taxable year in which a redemption or exchange (including deemed exchange) of LLC Units for shares of our Class A Common Stock occurs. These Tax Receivable Agreement payments are not conditioned upon any continued ownership interest in either DDH LLC or us by DDMs. The rights of DDM under the Tax Receivable Agreement are assignable to transferees of its LLC Units (other than Direct Digital Holdings as transferee pursuant to subsequent redemptions (or exchanges) of the transferred LLC Units); provided, however, DDM may not, directly or indirectly, assign or otherwise transfer its rights under the Tax Receivable Agreement to any Person (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement) (other than to certain "Permitted Transferees" specified in the DDH LLC Agreement) without the express prior written consent of Direct Digital Holdings, and without such Person (including a permitted transferee) executing and delivering a joinder to the Tax Receivable Agreement agreeing to become a party to the Tax Receivable Agreement. We expect to benefit from the remaining 15% of tax benefits, if any, that we may realize. Actual tax benefits realized by us may differ from tax benefits calculated under the Tax Receivable Agreement, including the use of an assumed weighted-average state and local income tax rate to calculate tax benefits.

The Basis Adjustments, as well as any amounts paid to DDM under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary depending on a number of factors, including:

- the timing of any subsequent redemptions or exchanges for instance, the increase in any tax deductions will vary depending on the fair value, which may fluctuate over time, of the depreciable or amortizable assets of DDH LLC at the time of each redemption or exchange;
- the price of shares of our Class A Common Stock at the time of redemptions or exchanges the Basis Adjustments, as well as any related increase in any tax deductions, are directly related to the price of shares of our Class A Common Stock at the time of each redemption or exchange;
- the extent to which such redemptions or exchanges are taxable if a redemption or exchange is not taxable for any reason, increased tax deductions will not be available; and
- the amount and timing of our taxable income (prior to taking into account the tax depreciation or amortization deductions arising from the Basis Adjustments) the Tax Receivable Agreement generally requires Direct Digital Holdings to pay 85% of the tax benefits as and when those benefits are treated as realized under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement. Except as discussed below, in cases of (i) a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement, (ii) a change of control or (iii) an early termination of the Tax Receivable Agreement, if Direct Digital Holdings does not have taxable income, it will generally not be required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for that taxable year because no tax benefits will have been realized. However, any tax benefits that do not result in realized tax benefits in a given taxable year may generate tax attributes that may be utilized to generate tax benefits in future taxable years. The utilization of any such tax attributes will result in payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

The aggregate balance of tax receivable liabilities owed to DDM as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, is as follows (in thousands):

	December 31,			
	20	)24		2023
Liability related to tax receivable agreement:				
Short term	\$	41	\$	41
Long term		_		5,201
Total liability related to tax receivable agreement	\$	41	\$	5,242

For purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, cash savings in income tax is computed by comparing Direct Digital Holdings' actual income tax liability to the amount of such taxes that it would have been required to pay had there been no Basis Adjustments and had the Tax Receivable Agreement not been entered into. The Tax Receivable Agreement generally applies to each of our taxable years. The actual and hypothetical tax liabilities determined in the Tax Receivable Agreement is calculated using the actual U.S. federal income tax rate in effect for the applicable period and an assumed, weighted-average state and local income tax rate based on apportionment factors for the applicable period (along with the use of certain other assumptions). There is no maximum term for the Tax Receivable Agreement; however, the Tax Receivable Agreement may be terminated by us pursuant to an early termination procedure that requires us to pay DDM an agreed upon amount equal to the estimated present value of the remaining payments to be made under the agreement (calculated based on certain assumptions, including regarding tax rates and utilization of the Basis Adjustments).

The payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are obligations of Direct Digital Holdings and not of DDH LLC. Although the actual timing and amount of any payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement will vary, we expect that the payments that we may be required to make to DDM could be significant. The actual increases in tax basis with respect to future taxable redemptions, exchanges or purchases of LLC Units, as well as the amount and timing of any payments we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement in respect of the acquisition of LLC Units from DDM in connection with future taxable redemptions, exchanges or purchases of LLC Units, may differ materially from the amounts set forth above because the potential future reductions in our tax payments, as determined for purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, and the payments we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will each depend on a number of factors, including the market value of our Class A Common Stock at the time of redemption or exchange, the prevailing federal tax rates applicable to us over the life of the Tax Receivable Agreement (as well as the assumed combined state and local tax rate), the amount and timing of the taxable income that we

generate in the future and the extent to which future redemptions, exchanges or purchases of LLC Units are taxable transactions.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if, as described below, the payments made by us to DDM under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual benefits we receive in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement and/or distributions to us by DDH LLC are not sufficient to permit us to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts generally will be deferred and will possibly accrue interest until paid by us. Decisions made by us in the course of running our business, such as with respect to mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes in control, may influence the timing and amount of payments that are received by DDM under the Tax Receivable Agreement. For example, the earlier disposition of assets following a transaction that results in a Basis Adjustment will generally accelerate payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and increase the present value of such payments.

In addition, although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge the tax basis increases or other benefits arising under the Tax Receivable Agreement, DDM will not reimburse us for any payments previously made if such tax basis increases or other tax benefits are subsequently disallowed, except that any excess payments made to DDM will be netted against future payments otherwise to be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, if any, after our determination of such excess. In addition, a challenge to any tax benefits initially claimed by us may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment. As a result, in such circumstances we could make payments to DDM under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are greater than our actual cash tax savings and may not be able to recoup those payments, which could negatively impact our liquidity.

In addition, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, upon certain mergers, asset sales or other forms of business combination or certain other changes of control, our or our successor's obligations with respect to tax benefits would be based on certain assumptions, including that we or our successor would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the benefits arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement. As a result, upon a change of control, we could be required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are greater than or less than the specified percentage of our actual cash tax savings, which could negatively impact our liquidity.

This provision of the Tax Receivable Agreement may result in situations where DDM, a holding company indirectly owned by our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our President, have interests that differ from or are in addition to those of our other stockholders. In addition, we could be required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are substantial and in excess of our, or a potential acquirer's, actual cash savings in income tax.

Finally, because we are a holding company with no operations of our own, our ability to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement is dependent on the ability of DDH LLC to make distributions to us. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will possibly accrue interest until paid.

#### **DDH LLC Agreement**

We operate our business through DDH LLC and its subsidiaries. We and DDM entered into DDH LLC's amended and restated limited liability company agreement, which we refer to as the "DDH LLC Agreement," on February 15, 2022. The operations of DDH LLC, and the rights and obligations of the holders of LLC Units, are set forth in the DDH LLC Agreement.

# Appointment as Manager and Voting Rights

Under the DDH LLC Agreement, we are a member and the sole manager of DDH LLC. As the sole manager, we are able to control all of the day-to-day business affairs and decision-making of DDH LLC. As such, we, through our officers and directors, are responsible for all operational and administrative decisions of DDH LLC and the day-to-day management of DDH LLC's business. Pursuant to the terms of the DDH LLC Agreement, we cannot, under any circumstances, be removed as the sole manager of DDH LLC except by our election. In addition, as a result of our 100% ownership of all of the voting interests in DDH LLC, we control the decision-making of any matter required to be approved by the members of DDH LLC as provided under the DDH LLC Agreement.

#### Compensation

We are not entitled to compensation for our services as manager. We are entitled to reimbursement or capital contribution credit by DDH LLC for fees and expenses incurred on behalf of DDH LLC, including all expenses associated with maintaining our corporate existence.

#### Distributions

The DDH LLC Agreement requires "tax distributions" to be made by DDH LLC to its members, as that term is defined in the agreement. Tax distributions are made to members on a pro rata basis, including us, in amounts intended to be sufficient to allow the members, including us, to pay taxes owed in respect of income allocated by DDH LLC and to allow us to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement (as described above under "— Tax Receivable Agreement"). The DDH LLC Agreement also allows for distributions to be made by DDH LLC to its members on a pro rata basis out of "distributable cash," as that term is defined in the agreement. We expect DDH LLC may make distributions out of distributable cash periodically to the extent permitted by our agreements governing our indebtedness and necessary to enable us to cover our operating expenses and other obligations, including our tax liability and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, as well as to make dividend payments, if any, to the holders of our Class A Common Stock.

#### LLC Unit Redemption Right

The DDH LLC Agreement provides a redemption right to DDM which entitles it to have its LLC Units redeemed, from time to time at its election (subject to the terms of the DDH LLC Agreement), for newly issued shares of our Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis (subject to customary adjustments, including for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications). Upon the exercise of the redemption right, DDM will surrender its LLC Units to DDH LLC for cancellation. The DDH LLC Agreement requires that we contribute shares of our Class A Common Stock to DDH LLC in exchange for an amount of newly issued LLC Units in DDH LLC that are issued to us equal to the number of LLC Units redeemed from DDM. DDH LLC will then distribute the shares of our Class A Common Stock to DDM to complete the redemption. In the event of a redemption election by DDM, Direct Digital Holdings may effect a direct exchange of Class A Common Stock. Whether by redemption or exchange, we are obligated to ensure that at all times the number of LLC Units that we own equals the number of shares of Class A Common Stock issued by us (subject to certain exceptions for treasury shares and shares underlying certain convertible or exchangeable securities).

# Indemnification

The DDH LLC Agreement provides for indemnification of the manager, members and officers of DDH LLC and their respective subsidiaries or affiliates.

# STOCK OWNERSHIP OF OUR DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND 5% BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, as of March 31, 2025 (the "Determination Date") by:

- each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known to beneficially own more than 5% of either our Class A Common Stock or our Class B Common Stock;
- · each of our named executive officers for fiscal year 2024 shown in our Summary Compensation Table;
- · each of our current directors; and
- all of our current directors and executive officers as a group.

As of the Determination Date, there were 7,093,480 shares of our Class A Common Stock outstanding and 10,798,000 shares of our Class B Common Stock outstanding. As described in the section titled "Related-Person Transactions" above, DDM is entitled to have its LLC Units redeemed for shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis (subject to customary adjustments, including for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications) in accordance with the terms of the DDH LLC Agreement; provided that, at our election, we may effect a direct exchange of such Class A Common Stock. In connection with our initial public offering, we issued to DDM one share of Class B Common Stock for each LLC Unit it owns.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. These rules generally attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons who possess sole or shared voting power or investment power with respect to such securities, including options and warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of the Determination Date. Shares of our Class A Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of the person holding such options and the percentage of any group of which the person is a member but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of Class A Common Stock shown that they beneficially own, subject to community property laws where applicable. The information does not necessarily indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose, including for purposes of Section 13(d) and 13(g) of the Exchange Act. "Voting power" is the power to vote or direct the voting of shares and "investment power" includes the power to dispose or direct the disposition of shares.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each director and executive officer listed is: c/o Direct Digital Holdings, Inc., 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027.

#### Shares of Class A Common Stock Beneficially Owned

#### Shares of Class B Stock Beneficially Owned

Total Voting Power Beneficially Owned

	No. (4)	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
5% Stockholders						
Direct Digital Management, LLC <sup>(1)</sup>	_	<b></b> %	10,798,000	100 %	10,798,000	60.4 %
Named Executive Officers and Directors						
Mark Walker, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	104,576 (3)	1.5 %	5,419,000 (2)	50.2 %	5,523,576	30.9 %
Keith Smith, President and Director	111,554 (4)	1.6 %	5,379,000 (2)	49.8 %	5,490,554	30.7 %
Diana P. Diaz, Chief Financial Officer	14,612 (5)	*%	_	<b></b> %	14,612	*%
Richard Cohen, Director	55,905	*%	_	<b></b> %	55,905	*%
Antoinette R. Leatherberry, <i>Director</i>	55,812	*%	_	<b>—</b> %	38,071	*%
Mistelle Locke, Director	35,674	*%	_	<b>—</b> %	35,674	*%
All executive officers and directors as a group (8 persons)	440,441 (6)	6.2%	10,798,000	100 %	11,238,441	62.8 %

- \* Less than 1%
  - (1) Direct Digital Management, LLC is a holding company in which Mark Walker, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Keith Smith, our President, each indirectly hold an approximately 50% economic and voting interest, as adjusted for redemptions of LLC Units in exchange for shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company. AJN Energy & Transport Ventures, LLC and SKW Financial LLC directly hold the equity interests in Direct Digital Management, LLC. Mr. Walker and his wife share voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by AJN Energy & Transport Ventures, LLC. Mr. Smith and his wife share voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by SKW Financial LLC.
  - (2) Consists of the shares owned by Direct Digital Management, LLC. Each of Messrs. Walker and Smith indirectly hold an approximately 50% economic and voting interest in Direct Digital Management, LLC, as adjusted for redemptions of LLC Units in exchange for shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company. AJN Energy & Transport Ventures, LLC and SKW Financial LLC directly hold the equity interests in Direct Digital Management, LLC. Mr. Walker and his wife share voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by AJN Energy & Transport Ventures, LLC. Mr. Smith and his wife share voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by SKW Financial LLC.
  - (3) Includes: 60,540 shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired by Mr. Walker upon the exercise of stock options that are vested or vesting within 60 days of the Measurement Date.
  - (4) Includes: 60,540 shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired by Mr. Smith upon the exercise of stock options that are vested or vesting within 60 days of the Measurement Date.
  - (5) Includes: 6,216 shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired by Ms. Diaz upon the exercise of stock options that are vested or vesting within 60 days of the Measurement Date.
  - (6) Includes: 155,946 shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired by all executive officers and directors upon the exercise of stock options that are vested or vesting within 60 days of the Measurement Date.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 1

#### **ELECTION OF DIRECTORS; NOMINEES**

Our Bylaws provide that the Board shall consist of no fewer than four nor more than 12 members, as determined from time to time by resolution of the Board. Our Board currently consists of five members. The persons nominated for election as director are: Mark Walker, Keith Smith, Richard Cohen, Antoinette R. Leatherberry and Mistelle Locke. For information about each of the nominees and our Board generally, please see "Corporate Governance — Our Board of Directors" beginning on page 8. If elected, the nominees will hold office until the next annual meeting or until a respective successor is duly elected and has been qualified, or until such director dies, resigns, or is removed from office. Each nominee listed above has consented to being named in this proxy statement and has agreed to serve if elected. Management expects that each of the nominees will be available for election, but if any of them is unable to serve at the time the election occurs, your proxy will be voted for the election of another nominee to be designated by a majority of the independent directors serving on our Board.

If a choice is specified on the proxy card, in an Internet vote or in a mobile device vote by the stockholder, the shares will be voted as specified. If no specification is made, the shares will be voted "FOR" all of the nominees. The affirmative vote of the holders of a plurality of the shares of our Class A Common Stock and our Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class and entitled to vote at the annual meeting at which a quorum is present is required for the election of the nominees.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" the election of all of the nominees for director.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 2

# RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF BDO USA, P.C. AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board is submitting the selection BDO USA, P.C. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025 to the stockholders for ratification at our Annual Meeting. Stockholder ratification of our independent registered public accounting firm is not required by our Bylaws or otherwise. If BDO USA, P.C. is not ratified as our independent registered public accounting firm by our stockholders, the Audit Committee will review its future selection of an independent registered public accounting firm. BDO USA, P.C. will still serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025, if it is not ratified by our stockholders. The affirmative vote of the majority of shares present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter is required for the ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, P.C.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 3

# AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S 2022 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY'S CLASS A COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE THEREUNDER

The Board is submitting to the stockholders for approval an amendment to the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2022 Omnibus Plan") to increase the number of shares of the Company's common stock authorized for issuance thereunder by 4,000,000 to 7,500,000. As of March 31, 2025, 1,736,310 shares of the Company's common stock were available to issue under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. As a result, assuming approval of this proposal by the stockholders, the total amount of shares authorized under the 2022 Omnibus Plan would be 7,500,000, inclusive of 1,763,690 shares already issued from the plan's inception in 2022 through March 31, 2025. As of March 31, 2025, the per share closing price of our common stock was \$0.64.

The text of the amendment is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A. The text of the 2022 Omnibus Plan is attached as Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025.

The Board believes that it is prudent and in the best interest of the Company to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2022 Omnibus Plan in order to maintain a reserve of shares available for use as equity compensation grants. As previously disclosed, the Company is currently working to remediate a non-compliance with Nasdaq listing standards related to maintaining minimum stockholders' equity of \$2.5 million, which will require raising funds through one or more offerings of equity securities. The additional securities requested to be added to the 2022 Omnibus Plan is in part related to the expected change in the Company's capital structure as a result of those offerings.

The Board believes that equity compensation serves to align the interests of our management, employees and other service providers with the interests of our stockholders, link pay to performance, and provide a strong incentive to our talented executives and employees to both join and remain with the Company. Importantly, equity compensation allows us to conserve our crucial cash resources while still being able to attract high quality employees and service providers and competitively compensate our experienced management team. The proposed change to the 2022 Omnibus Plan is intended to ensure that the plan remains available to properly reward and provide incentive for employees and other service providers who are responsible for long-term success of the Company. If we are not able to grant equity awards, we risk losing our executives, employees and other service providers to our competition, which would be disruptive and detrimental to our goals and, ultimately, to our ability to create value for our stockholders.

#### **Key Provisions**

The following is a summary of certain key provisions of the 2022 Omnibus Plan:

Provision of Plan	Description			
Eligible Participants:	Employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the Company or affiliates thereof. As of March 31, 2025, there were approximately 77 employees and 3 directors of the Company and its affiliates eligible to participate in the 2022 Omnibus Plan. Award recipients are selected in the discretion of our compensation committee, or a delegate thereof.			
Share Reserve:	Total of 7,500,000 shares (as increased by this amendment) of the Company's common stock.			
Award Types:	<ul> <li>Nonstatutory stock options;</li> <li>Incentive stock options;</li> <li>Restricted stock;</li> <li>Stock appreciation rights;</li> <li>Restricted stock units;</li> <li>Phantom stock awards;</li> <li>Stock bonuses; and/or</li> <li>Cash bonus awards.</li> </ul>			

Repricings: Repricing of outstanding options and stock appreciation rights is not permitted without the approval of the Company's

stockholders.

Plan Termination Date: January 17, 2032

#### General Information About the 2022 Omnibus Plan

On January 17, 2022, our board of directors adopted and our stockholders approved the 2022 Omnibus Plan. The purpose of the 2022 Omnibus Plan is to enable the Company to attract, retain and motivate its employees and other service providers by providing for or increasing their proprietary interests in the Company.

The 2022 Omnibus Plan is a stock incentive plan under which we may offer securities of the Company to eligible participants. The 2022 Omnibus Plan permits the Company to satisfy any awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan by distributing to participants (1) authorized and unissued shares of the Company's common stock, (2) shares of common stock held in the Company treasury, (3) shares of the Company's common stock purchased on the open market, (4) shares of the Company's common stock acquired through private purchase or (5) a combination of items (1) – (4).

#### Eligibility

Employees, directors, officers and consultants or advisors of the Company and its affiliates are eligible for awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan provided, however, that any employee covered by a collective bargaining agreement will only be able to participate in the 2022 Omnibus Plan if eligibility to participate is set forth in the applicable collective bargaining agreement. Presently, none of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Our compensation committee (as discussed below) has the sole and complete authority to determine who will be granted awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan.

#### Administration

The 2022 Omnibus Plan may be administered by the compensation committee, or if our board of directors is acting as our compensation committee, certain independent members of our board of directors. Presently, the compensation committee administers the 2022 Omnibus Plan, except in the case of awards to non-employee directors, which are administered by our board of directors. The compensation committee in its discretion may delegate certain of its duties with respect to the 2022 Omnibus Plan to officers of the Company.

The compensation committee or, in the case of awards to non-employee directors, our board of directors, has the authority to: (1) designate 2022 Omnibus Plan participants; (2) determine the type of awards to be granted to each participant and the number of shares subject to such awards; (3) determine the terms and conditions of any agreements relating to awards granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan (agreements may differ among participants); (4) determine when, whether, to what extent, and the method by which an award may be (a) settled in cash, shares of stock, other securities or other property and (b) settled, exercised, canceled, forfeited or suspended; (5) determine the terms of deferrals, if any, related to the payment of stock or cash due under the 2022 Omnibus Plan; (6) accelerate the exercisability of any option or SAR and remove any restrictions on awards; (7) interpret, administer, reconcile any inconsistency, correct any defect and/or supply any omission in the 2022 Omnibus Plan and any agreements granted thereunder; (8) establish, amend, suspend or waive rules and regulations related to the 2022 Omnibus Plan; (9) appoint agents as it deems appropriate for the administration of the 2022 Omnibus Plan; and (10) make other determinations related to the 2022 Omnibus Plan or awards issued thereunder as it deems necessary or desirable.

#### **Duration**; Plan Amendments

The 2022 Omnibus Plan expires by its terms on the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the 2022 Omnibus Plan, which is January 17, 2032. No awards can be granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan after the 2022 Omnibus Plan has terminated. However, awards granted prior to the date on which the 2022 Omnibus Plan terminates will not be affected by the termination and the terms and conditions of the 2022 Omnibus Plan will continue to apply to those awards.

Our board of directors has the right to amend, alter, suspend, or terminate the 2022 Omnibus Plan, even before the date on which the 2022 Omnibus Plan is otherwise scheduled to terminate, subject to stockholder approval

if necessary to comply with tax, regulatory and stock exchange requirements. The compensation committee may also amend outstanding awards or cancel any award and provide a substitute award, subject to the participants' consent, if it would impair the rights of the award holder. As discussed below, however, awards may be cancelled in return for a cash payment upon the occurrence of a change in control and under certain other circumstances.

#### Shares Available for Issuance

The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan is 7,500,000, as increased by this Amendment, subject to certain adjustments for corporate transactions, as described in the section entitled "— Additional Information — Adjustments" below. On termination, forfeiture, or expiration of an award, the number of shares of common stock subject to such award will become available again for grant under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. Additionally, shares subject to an award that are not delivered to a participant because they are used to satisfy a tax withholding obligation or are withheld to pay all or a portion of an option's exercise price will again become available for grant under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. In addition, shares of the Company's common stock will not be considered used if the award to which they relate is settled in cash. Further, shares subject to awards granted in assumption or substitution of outstanding awards of an acquired entity shall not be counted against the shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2022 Omnibus Plan.

#### Awards

#### Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock options may be granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. The Committee sets the terms of the stock option grant at the time the grant is made. These terms are described in a stock option award agreement.

The Committee, in its discretion, may designate stock options granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan as either nonqualified stock options or incentive stock options ("ISOs"), within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder (the "Code"). ISOs have certain unique tax characteristics discussed below. The stock option agreement will indicate whether the stock options are nonqualified stock options or ISOs. Please note, however, that, even if all of the stock options are designated as ISOs, only those stock options so designated that first become vested and exercisable in a calendar year having an aggregate fair market value (determined at the date of grant) of \$100,000 will be eligible to receive ISO tax treatment. Any additional stock options that become vested during that calendar year will be treated as nonqualified stock options for tax purposes. If an ISO is granted to a 2022 Omnibus Plan participant who owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, such ISO will expire five years after the date of grant and the exercise price will be at least 110% of the fair market value of the of the stock subject to the ISO on the date of grant.

Once a stock option vests, holders of stock options granted pursuant to the 2022 Omnibus Plan will be able to exercise that stock option for a period determined by the Committee and set forth in their stock option agreement. Although the period during which an option may be exercised may vary from award to award, the longest period of time for which an option will remain exercisable is ten years from the date it is granted (or five years from the date it is granted for certain ISOs, as noted above). If a participant's employment terminates, the period during which they can exercise their vested stock options may change depending on the terms of their option agreement.

Stock appreciation rights ("SARs") may be granted either in conjunction with or independent of an option award. SARS will become vested, exercisable and transferable pursuant to the vesting schedule in the applicable award agreement, or, if granted in conjunction with an option, pursuant to the same vesting schedule included in the option award agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the case of a SAR granted in connection with an option, a SAR will expire no later than ten years after the date of grant. Upon exercise, SARs can be paid out in shares of the Company or cash as determined by the compensation committee; however, fractional shares will be settled only in cash.

#### Restricted Stock Awards, Restricted Stock Units, Stock Bonus Awards and Cash Bonus Awards

Restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock bonus awards and cash bonus awards may be granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. The Committee will set the terms of such awards at the time of grant and will describe these terms in the applicable award agreement.

#### **Dividend Equivalent Rights**

Dividend equivalent rights, which entitle the participant to payments in cash or property calculated by reference to the amount of dividends paid on the shares of stock underlying an award, may be granted with respect to any awards granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan other than options or SARs.

#### Additional Information

#### Adjustments

The 2022 Omnibus Plan provides for appropriate adjustments or substitutions in the number of shares of common stock subject to awards and available for future awards, the exercise price of outstanding awards, and/or the kind of shares or other consideration subject to an award in the event of (1) changes in our outstanding common stock by reason of a merger, stock split, reorganization, recapitalization, extraordinary cash dividends or similar events or transactions or (2) changes in applicable law that results in substantial dilution or enlargement of the rights granted to participants or that otherwise interferes with the intended operation of the 2022 Omnibus Plan.

#### Repricing

Repricing of options and SARs is generally prohibited under the 2022 Omnibus Plan without approval of our stockholders, except for adjustments as provided for in the immediately preceding paragraph.

### Change in Control

If, in contemplation of a "change in control" (as defined in the 2022 Omnibus Plan) at the acquiror's request or suggestion, a participant's employment or service with the Company or an affiliate is terminated by the Company without "cause" or by the participant for "good reason" (each as defined in the 2022 Omnibus Plan), all awards held by such participant become fully vested.

In the event of a change in control, the surviving, continuing, successor or purchasing entity, as applicable, may choose to either (i) continue (or cause a successor entity to assume and continue) each outstanding award under the 2022 Omnibus Plan, subject to appropriate adjustments to the number, type and price of shares subject to the award; (ii) replace the outstanding awards with a substantially equivalent award with respect to the acquiring entity's stock; or (iii) cancel the outstanding awards in return for a cash payment based on the value of the underlying shares.

With respect to awards subject to performance conditions, all incomplete performance periods in effect on the date the change in control occurs will end on such date of the change in control, and the compensation committee will determine the extent to which the performance goals with respect to each such award period have been met based upon such audited or unaudited financial information then available, as it deems relevant; and the awards will be settled based on the extent that the performance goals have been achieved as of such date, as determined by the compensation committee.

Other awards that are not assumed, continued or replaced will vest in full upon the change in control. With respect to awards that are assumed, continued or replaced, unless the applicable award agreement provides otherwise, if a participant's employment or service with the Company or an affiliate is terminated by the Company without cause or by the participant for good reason within twelve months of a change in control, all awards held by such participant become fully vested.

Additionally, in the event of a change in control, if an excise tax under Code Section 4999 will be triggered by any payments owed to a participant in connection with or contingent upon the change in control, the Company will reduce the aggregate amount of the payments payable to the participant such that no excise tax will be assessed, unless the after-tax payment, even with the excise tax, will be a greater value than the value resulting from the reduction and avoidance of the excise tax.

#### Tax Withholding

Participants in the 2022 Omnibus Plan must make a cash payment to the Company, or make other arrangements satisfactory to the compensation committee, to satisfy the tax withholding obligations that arise under applicable law with respect to an award granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan, including without limitation any U.S. federal income and employment taxes and other applicable state and local taxes. Under certain circumstances, participants may be permitted to satisfy their tax withholding obligation, in whole or in part, by having us withhold shares from the common stock subject to the award.

#### Transferability and Assignment

In general, participants in the 2022 Omnibus Plan can exercise an option or SAR or receive payment in settlement of any other award received under the 2022 Omnibus Plan only during their lifetime. Unless the agreement under which the award was granted provides otherwise, participants cannot transfer awards, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a domestic relations order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction.

#### Award Termination; Forfeiture

The Committee will have full power and authority to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances any award will be terminated or forfeited. To the extent not provided for otherwise in the award agreement, if a participant is terminated for "cause" (as defined in the 2022 Omnibus Plan), engages in any activity that is competitive with the company or an affiliate or acts contrary to the best interest of the Company or any affiliate in a manner that results in material injury to the Company, then any unexercisable or unvested award to such participant may be cancelled. Awards granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan are also subject to any clawback, compensation recovery policy or minimum stock holding period requirement adopted by the Company.

#### Summary of Federal Income Tax Consequences of the 2022 Omnibus Plan

The following summary is intended only as a general guide to the U.S. federal income tax consequences under current law of participation in the 2022 Omnibus Plan and does not attempt to describe all possible federal or other tax consequences of such participation or tax consequences based on particular circumstances. Furthermore, the tax consequences are complex and subject to change, and a taxpayer's particular situation may be such that some variation of the described rules is applicable. Recipients of awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax consequences to them as a result of their particular circumstances.

#### **Incentive Stock Options**

A participant recognizes no taxable income for regular income tax purposes as a result of the grant or exercise of an incentive stock option qualifying under Section 422 of the Code.

If a participant holds stock acquired through exercise of an incentive stock option for more than two years from the date on which the option was granted and more than one year after the date the option was exercised for those shares, any gain or loss on a disposition of those shares (a "qualifying disposition") will be a long-term capital gain or loss. Upon such a qualifying disposition, the Company will not be entitled to any income tax deduction.

If a participant disposes of shares within two years after the date of grant or within one year after the date of exercise (a "disqualifying disposition"), the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the option exercise date and the exercise price (not to exceed the gain realized on the sale if the disposition is a transaction with respect to which a loss, if sustained, would be recognized) will be taxed as ordinary income at the time of disposition. Any gain in excess of that amount will be a capital gain. If a loss is recognized, there will be no ordinary income, and such loss will be a capital loss. To the extent the participant recognizes ordinary income by reason of a disqualifying disposition, generally the Company will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to a corresponding income tax deduction in the tax year in which the disqualifying disposition occurs.

The difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date of an incentive stock option is treated as an adjustment in computing the participant's alternative minimum taxable income and may be subject to an alternative minimum tax which is paid if such tax exceeds the regular tax for the year. Special rules

may apply with respect to certain subsequent sales of the shares in a disqualifying disposition, certain basis adjustments for purposes of computing the alternative minimum taxable income on a subsequent sale of the shares and certain tax credits which may arise with respect to participants subject to the alternative minimum tax.

#### Nonstatutory Stock Options

Options not designated or qualifying as incentive stock options will be nonstatutory stock options having no special tax status. A participant generally recognizes no taxable income as the result of the grant of such an option so long as the exercise price is equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant and the option (and not the underlying stock) does not have a readily ascertainable fair market value at such time. Upon exercise of a nonstatutory stock option, the participant normally recognizes ordinary income in the amount of the difference between the option exercise price and the then-fair market value of the shares purchased. Generally, the Company will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to an income tax deduction in the tax year in which such ordinary income is recognized by the participant.

Upon the disposition of stock acquired by the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the exercise date, will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

#### Stock Appreciation Rights

A participant recognizes no taxable income upon the receipt of a stock appreciation right. Upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right, the participant will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the exercise date over the exercise price. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. The Company generally should be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to a deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant in connection with the exercise of the stock appreciation right, except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code.

#### Restricted Stock

A participant acquiring restricted stock generally will recognize ordinary income equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the "determination date" (as defined below) and their purchase price, if any. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. The "determination date" is the date on which the participant acquires the shares unless they are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture and are not transferable, in which case the determination date is the earlier of (i) the date on which the shares become transferable, or (ii) the date on which the shares are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. If the determination date is after the date on which the participant acquires the shares, the participant may elect, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code, to have the date of acquisition be the determination date by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service no later than 30 days after the date the shares are acquired. Upon the sale of shares acquired pursuant to a restricted stock award, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the determination date, will be taxed as capital gain or loss. Such gain or loss will be long-term or short-term depending on whether the stock was held for more than one year. The Company generally will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to a corresponding income tax deduction in the year in which such ordinary income is recognized by the participant.

#### Restricted Stock Units

No taxable income is recognized upon receipt of a restricted stock unit award. In general, the participant will recognize ordinary income in the year in which the units vest and are settled in an amount equal to any cash received and the fair market value of any nonrestricted shares received. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. The Company generally will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to an income tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant. In general, the deduction will be allowed for the taxable year in which such ordinary income is recognized by the participant.

The foregoing is only a summary, based on the current Code and Treasury Regulations thereunder, of the U.S. federal income tax consequences to the participant and the Company with respect to the grant and exercise of options and

other awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan. The summary does not purport to be complete, and it does not address the tax consequences of the participant's death, any tax laws of any municipality, state or foreign country in which a participant might reside, or any other laws other than U.S. federal income tax laws.

#### Cash-Based Awards or Dividend Equivalent Rights

Generally, any cash payments a participant receives in connection with an award under the 2022 Omnibus Plan are taxable as ordinary income in the year received or made available to the participant without substantial limitations or restrictions.

#### **Stock Options Previously Granted**

The following table sets forth information, as of March 31, 2025, with respect to the number of stock options granted under the 2022 Omnibus Plan since its inception to the persons and groups listed below (not including any shares forfeited or withheld):

Name and Principal Position	Number of Shares Underlying Option Grants (#)
Mark Walker, Chief Executive Officer	135,810
Keith Smith, President	135,810
Diana Diaz, Chief Financial Officer	41,150
Anu Pillai, Chief Technology Officer	47,465
Maria Vilchez Lowrey, Chief Growth Officer	40,515
All current executive officers, as a group (5 individuals)	400,750
All current directors who are not executive officers, as a group (3 individuals)	_
All employees (other than current executive officers) as a group	209,874

#### Description of the Proposed Amendment to the 2022 Omnibus Plan

The proposed amendment to the 2022 Omnibus Plan will only become effective if approved by our stockholders. The 2022 Omnibus Plan currently provides that the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan is 3,500,000. The proposed amendment to the 2022 Omnibus Plan will increase the number of shares authorized under the 2022 Omnibus Plan by 4,000,000 shares (from 3,500,000 shares to 7,500,000 shares). If the Company's stockholders do not approve this proposal at the Annual Meeting, the current 2022 Omnibus Plan will continue in its current form and we will continue to grant equity awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan, to the extent shares remain available under the existing terms thereof.

#### **New Plan Benefits**

The amount of each participant's future awards under the 2022 Omnibus Plan will be determined based on the discretion of the compensation committee or the Board and therefore are not determinable at this time.

The Board believes that it is prudent and in the best interest of the Company to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the Company's 2022 Omnibus Plan in order to maintain a reserve of shares available for use as equity compensation grants. The Board believes that equity compensation serves to align the interests of our management, employees and other service providers with the interests of our stockholders, link pay to performance, and provide a strong incentive to our executives and employees to both join and remain with the Company. Importantly, equity compensation allows us to conserve our crucial cash resources while still being able to attract high quality employees and competitively compensate our management team. The proposed changes to the Company's 2022 Omnibus Plan are intended to ensure that the plan remains available to properly reward and provide incentive for service providers who are responsible for long-term success of the Company. If we are not able to grant equity awards, we risk losing our executives and employees to our competition, which would be disruptive and detrimental to our goals and, ultimately, to our ability to create value for our stockholders.

## Required Vote

The affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present, virtually at the Annual Meeting or by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the Company's Class A common stock issuable thereunder.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" the amendment to the 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 4

#### AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO PROVIDE FOR OFFICER EXCULPATION

The board of directors has unanimously approved and declared advisable, and recommends that our stockholders adopt, a proposal to amend our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to reflect new Delaware law provisions regarding officer exculpation (the "Officer Exculpation Provisions"). The text of the amendment is attached to this Proxy Statement as Annex B. The text of our current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025.

#### Officer Exculpation

Section 1 of Article VI of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation currently includes a provision, authorized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), that eliminates the personal liability of directors for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL.

Prior to 2022, the DGCL did not allow for similar elimination or limitation of officers' personal liability. As a result, stockholder plaintiffs employed tactics of bringing certain claims against individual officers when such claims would otherwise be exculpated and dismissed if brought against directors. However, the State of Delaware, which is the Company's state of incorporation, recently amended Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL to enable Delaware corporations to limit the personal liability of certain of their officers in limited circumstances (the "Section 102(b)(7) Amendment"). The Section 102(b)(7) Amendment was adopted to address inconsistent treatment between officers and directors and address rising litigation and insurance costs for stockholders.

The board of directors believes that there is a need for directors and officers to remain free of the risk of financial ruin as a result of an unintentional misstep. The nature of the role of directors and officers often requires them to make decisions on crucial matters. Frequently, directors and officers must make decisions in response to time-sensitive opportunities and challenges in an evolving macroeconomic and regulatory environment, without the benefit of hindsight. The board of directors believes that exculpation provisions empower both directors and officers to exercise their best judgment in furtherance of stockholder interests. In addition, adopting an exculpation provision that aligns with Delaware law could prevent costly and protracted litigation that distracts our officers from important operational and strategic matters.

The board of directors also expects that exculpation clauses applicable to officers could become widely used by public corporations, including our peers, and that failing to adopt the Officer Exculpation Provisions could negatively impact our ability to recruit and retain exceptional officer candidates who value the protection from potential exposure to liabilities, costs of defense, and other risks of proceedings that would be afforded by protection similar to that afforded by the Officer Exculpation Provisions. Additionally, the Officer Exculpation Provisions will align the protections for our officers with those protections already afforded to our directors.

In light of the Section 102(b)(7) Amendment, we propose to amend our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to add a provision exculpating certain of the Company's officers from liability, as permitted by Delaware law, similar to the protections currently available for directors of the Company in our current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. If this proposal is approved and our current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is amended, the Company's officers, in addition to the Company's directors, would be exculpated from monetary liability for fiduciary duty breaches, solely to the extent permitted under Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL. With these changes, we aim to strike a balance between stockholders' interest in accountability and their interest in the Company being able to attract and retain quality officers to work on its behalf. For these reasons, our board of directors has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to seek to update the exculpation provision.

#### **Proposed Changes**

If approved, our current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation would be amended to add a new Section 7 to Article IX as follows:

7. Limitation of Officer Liability. The liability of the officers of the Company for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent under applicable law. If applicable law is amended after approval by the

stockholders of this Article IX, Section 7 to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of officers, then the liability of an officer to the Company shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as so amended.

If stockholders approve this Proposal No. 4, the changes described in this Proposal No. 4 will become legally effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, which is expected to occur shortly following the Annual Meeting. However, even if stockholders approve this Proposal No. 4, our board of directors may, in its sole discretion, abandon this action without further shareholder action prior to the effectiveness of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and, if abandoned, the changes reflected therein will not become effective. If stockholders do not approve this Proposal No. 4, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation will not be amended, and the modifications described in this Proposal No. 4 will not take effect.

#### Required Vote

The approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation requires the affirmative vote of the holders of the majority of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class. Unless marked to the contrary, proxies received will be voted "FOR" approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" the approval of the amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to provide for officer exculpation.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 5

## AMENDMENT TO THE COMPANY'S AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO DELETE THE WAIVER OF SECTION 203 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

The board of directors has unanimously approved and declared advisable, and recommends that our stockholders adopt, a proposal to amend our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to delete the Company's waiver of Section 203 of the DGCL ("Section 203 Amendment"). As a result, the Company would become subject to Section 203 of the DGCL ("Section 203"), which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in a "business combination" with any "interested stockholder" for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder except in certain circumstances. The text of the amendment is attached to the Proxy Statement as Annex B. The text of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025.

#### **Current Status**

Under the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Company expressly elected not to be governed by Section 203. Section 203 generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any "business combination" with any "interested stockholder" for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless

- prior to such time, either the business combination or the transaction in which the stockholder became an interested stockholder was approved by the board of directors;
- upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced; or
- at or after such time the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

A "business combination" generally includes: (i) mergers between the corporation and an interested stockholder (or certain of its affiliates); (ii) sales or dispositions to an interested stockholder of assets worth 10% or more of the total asset value of the corporation (measured by consolidated asset value or aggregate stock value); (iii) certain issuances or transfers of stock to an interested stockholder; (iv) certain transactions involving the corporation that would increase the proportionate ownership of the interested stockholder; and (v) a receipt by the interested stockholder (except proportionately as a stockholder) of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by the corporation.

An "interested stockholder" is generally defined as a person or group that beneficially owns 15% or more of the corporation's outstanding common stock. A "business combination" also includes a merger, consolidation, sale of assets or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder.

#### Rationale for the Proposal

The Board believes that the waiver of Section 203 was appropriate for the Company following the IPO as a newly public company in which our founders held a substantial stake. As part of our continuous evaluation of corporate governance practices, the Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board regularly review our governing documents and consider possible changes. The Board has carefully considered the potential adverse effects and the benefits of being subject to the provisions of Section 203 described above and has concluded that any adverse effects of Section 203 are substantially outweighed by the increased protection that the statute will afford our stockholders.

If the Company becomes subject to Section 203 it may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the Board. Becoming subject to Section 203 may also discourage takeover attempts that could result in a premium over the market price for the shares of our common stock held by stockholders.

The Board believes that it is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders for Section 203 to apply to the Company because it will encourage any potential acquirer to negotiate with our Board and will reduce the likelihood of a hostile takeover that does not provide adequate value to the Company's stockholders. The Board believes that a non-

negotiated takeover bid may be unfair, coercive or disadvantageous to the Company and its stockholders because such a bid may: (i) be timed to take advantage of temporarily depressed stock prices; (ii) be designed to foreclose or minimize the possibility of more favorable competing bids; or (iii) involve the acquisition of only a controlling interest in our Company's stock or a two-tiered bid, without affording all stockholders the opportunity to receive the same economic benefits.

The application of Section 203 to the Company will confer upon the Board the power to reject a proposed business combination in certain circumstances, even though a potential acquirer may be offering a premium for our capital stock or assets over the then-current market price. In a transaction in which an acquirer must negotiate with the Board, the Board can negotiate for the terms and structure that the Board believes are in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders and can reject any proposal that the Board believes is inadequate or unfairly timed. Becoming subject to Section 203 may also discourage potential acquirers that are unwilling to negotiate with the Board. Section 203 should not interfere with any merger or business combination approved by the Board. A substantial number of public companies are governed by Section 203, and the Board believes that such election is consistent with good principles of corporate governance and is appropriate for public companies incorporated in Delaware that do not have a substantial stockholder.

The Section 203 Amendment is not prompted by any specific contemplated or anticipated stockholder action of which the Board is aware.

#### Effect of Proposal

If the Section 203 Amendment is approved, "business combinations" with "interested stockholders" will be conditioned upon satisfaction of the provisions of Section 203. Under certain circumstances, Section 203 will have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the Board by making it more difficult for a person who would be an "interested stockholder" to effect various business combinations with us for a three-year period. As a result, this may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with the Board because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if the Board approves either the business combination or the transaction which results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. Section 203 also may have the effect of preventing changes in our Board and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions which stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

If stockholders approve this Proposal No. 5, the changes described in this Proposal No. 5 will become legally effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, which is expected to occur shortly following the Annual Meeting. However, even if stockholders approve this Proposal No. 5, our board of directors may, in its sole discretion, abandon this action without further shareholder action prior to the effectiveness of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and, if abandoned, the changes reflected therein will not become effective. If stockholders do not approve this Proposal No. 5, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation will not be amended, and the modifications described in this Proposal No. 5 will not take effect.

#### Required Vote

The approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class. Unless marked to the contrary, proxies received will be voted "FOR" approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" the approval of the amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

#### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

#### **Householding of Annual Meeting Materials**

Some bank, brokerage firm or other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of "householding" proxy materials, including the Internet Notice. This means that only one copy of the Internet Notice and, if applicable, a single set of the proxy statement and the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025, may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of any document to you if you contact us at: Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027, Attn: Diana Diaz. You may also contact us at (832) 402-1051.

If you want to receive separate copies of the notice of internet availability, or proxy statement and annual report in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy for your household, you should contact your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee record holder, or you may contact us at the above address or phone number.

#### Stockholder Proposals for Our 2026 Annual Meeting

Only proper proposals under Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act which are timely received will be included in the proxy materials for our next annual meeting. In order to be considered timely, such proposal must be received by our Corporate Secretary, Diana Diaz, at 1177 West Loop South, Suite 1310, Houston, Texas 77027, no later than December 30, 2025, which is the date that is 120 calendar days prior to the anniversary of the date of this year's proxy statement. We suggest that stockholders submit any stockholder proposal by certified mail, return receipt requested.

Our Bylaws require stockholders to provide advance notice to the Company of any stockholder director nomination(s) and any other matter a stockholder wishes to present for action at an annual meeting of stockholders (other than matters to be included in our proxy statement, which are discussed in the previous paragraph). In order to properly bring business before an annual meeting, our Bylaws require, among other things, that the stockholder submit written notice thereof complying with our Bylaws to Diana Diaz, our Corporate Secretary, at the above address, not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced more than 30 days prior to or delayed by more than 30 days after the anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. Therefore, the Company must receive notice of a stockholder proposal submitted other than pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (as discussed above) no sooner than February 9, 2026, and no later than March 11, 2026. If a stockholder fails to provide timely notice of a proposal to be presented at our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the proxy designated by our Board will have discretionary authority to vote on any such proposal that may come before the meeting. Stockholders are advised to review our Bylaws, which contain additional requirements about advance notice of stockholder proposals.

In addition to satisfying the foregoing requirements under our Bylaws, to comply with the universal proxy rules, stockholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other than the Company's nominees must provide notice that sets forth the information required by Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act no later than April 10, 2026.

#### Other Matters

Our Board does not know of any other matters that may come before the meeting. However, if any other matters are properly presented to the meeting, it is the intention of the person named in the accompanying proxy card to vote, or otherwise act, in accordance with their judgment on such matters.

#### Solicitation of Proxies

We will bear the cost of solicitation of proxies. In addition to the solicitation of proxies by mail, our officers and employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone. We may reimburse brokers or persons holding stock in their names, or in the names of their nominees, for their expenses in sending proxies and proxy material to beneficial owners.

#### **Incorporation of Information by Reference**

The Audit Committee Report contained in this proxy statement is not deemed filed with the SEC and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any prior or future filings made by us under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate such information by reference. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, delivered to you together with this proxy statement, is hereby incorporated by reference.

#### Annex A

#### AMENDMENT TO DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC. 2022 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

This Amendment to the Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), has been adopted by the Board of Directors (the "Board") and approved by stockholders of Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. (the "Company"), to be effective as of 2025.	the							
stockholders of Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. (the Company ), to be effective as of, 2023.								
WITNESSETH:								
WHEREAS, the Company adopted the Plan for the purposes set forth therein;								

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17 of the Plan, the Board has the right to amend the Plan with respect to certain matters, provided such amendment must be subject to stockholder approval if necessary to comply with applicable exchange listing requirements;

WHEREAS, increasing the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan, as provided for this in Amendment, requires stockholder approval; and

WHEREAS, the Board has approved and authorized this Amendment to the Plan and has recommended that the stockholders of the Company approve this Amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Plan is hereby amended, subject to and effective as of the date of stockholder approval hereof, in the following particulars:

1. Section 5(a) of the Plan is hereby amended in its entirety as follows:

Subject to Section 15, the aggregate number of shares of Stock in respect of which Awards may be granted under the Plan as of the Effective Date is 7,500,000 shares of Stock, all of which may be granted pursuant to Incentive Stock Options.

Except as specifically set forth herein, the terms of the Plan shall be and remain unchanged, and the Plan as amended shall remain in full force and effect.

The foregoing is hereby acknowledged as being an Amendment to the Plan, as adopted by the Board on April 17, 2025, and approved by the Company's stockholders on \_, 2025.

#### Annex B

# CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, Inc.

Direct Digital Holdings, Inc. (the "Corporation"), a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), does hereby certify:

FIRST: That the name of the Corporation is Direct Digital Holdings, Inc.

SECOND: The Corporation was organized with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as a corporation on August 23, 2021, under its current name and existing under and by virtue of the DGCL. An Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February 11, 2022 (the "Current Charter").

THIRD: The heading and text of Article VII of the Current Charter is hereby deleted and amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

"[RESERVED]"

FOURTH: Article IX of the Current Charter is hereby amended by adding the following as a new Section 7:

"7. **Limitation of Officer Liability.** The liability of the officers of the Company for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent under applicable law. If applicable law is amended after approval by the stockholders of this <u>Article IX</u>, <u>Section 7</u> to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of officers, then the liability of an officer to the Company shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as so amended."

FIFTH: That this Certificate of Amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Sections 228 and 242 of the DGCL.

SIXTH: This Certificate of Amendment shall be effective upon the filing of this Certificate of Amendment with the Secretary of State of the State of

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned officer of the Corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment to be executed on this \_\_\_\_ day of June 2025.

Direct Digital Holdings, Inc.

Delaware.

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Name: Mark Walker Title: Chief Executive Officer



VOTE BY INTERNET
Before The Meeting - Go to <u>www.proxyy.ota.com</u> or scan the QR Barcode above

Use the Infarmet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information. Vote by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on June 8, 2025. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

## During The Meeting - Go to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025

You may attend the meeting via the internet and vote during the meeting. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MOBILE DEVICE
Use any smartphone or tablet to scan the QR Barcode above using the QR Reader, and you will be taken directly to the internet voting website. Vote by 11:59 F.M. Eastern Time on June 8, 2025. Have your proxy card in hand when you visit the Internet voting website and then follow the Instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, o'o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes' Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

TO VOTE	MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS	S:			V73610-P31930 K	KEEP THIS PO	ORTION F	OR YOU	R RECORDS
THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED.						DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY			
DIREC	F DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC.	For \	Withhold All		To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s), mark "For All Except" and write the				
The the	e Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR ALL following:			Except	number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below.				┑╵
1.	Election of Directors	0	0	0					
	Nominees:								
	01) Mark D. Walker 04) Antoinette Leatherb 02) Keith W. Smith 05) Mistelle Locke 03) Richard Cohen	erry							
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following proposals:							For Against Abstain		
2.	Ratify the appointment of BDO USA, P.C. as our independe	ent regi:	stered put	blic accour	nting firm for the year ending December 31, 2025.		0	0	0
3.	Amend the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan to Inc 4,000,000 shares.	rease th	ie numbe	r of shares	s of the Company's Class A common stock issuable there	eunder by	0	0	0
4.	Approve an amendment to the Company's Amended and I	Restate	d Certifica	ate of Inco	orporation to provide for officer exculpation.		0	0	0
5.	Approve an amendment to the Company's Amended a Delaware General Corporation Law.	and Re	stated Ce	artificate o	of incorporation to delete the waiver of Section 20	3 of the	0	0	0
NOTE: The shares of Class A common stock represented by this card properly executed will be voted as directed or, if properly executed but no direction is given, will be voted for the nominees listed in Proposal No. 1, and for each of the other proposals listed above. The proxies, in their discretion, are further authorized to vote (a) for the election of a person to the Board of Directions if any nominee named herein becomes unable to serve or for good cause will not serve, (b) on any matter which the Board of Directions during the property of the annual meeting by a reasonable time before the proxy solicitation was made, and (c) on other matters which may properly come before the meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof.									
OW/	ase sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signi ners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corp	ing as a oration	ttorney, e or partne	xecutor, a rship, plea	ase sign in full corporate or partnership name by authorize	ed officer.			
Sig	nature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date				Signature (Joint Owners) Dat	ite			

#### Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting:

The Notice and Proxy Statement and Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

\_\_\_\_\_\_

V73611-P31930

#### DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC. Annual Meeting of Stockholders June 9, 2025 9:30 AM Central Time This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The stockholder(s) hereby appoint(s) Mark Walker and Diana Diaz, or either of them, as proxies, each with the power to appoint his or her substitute, and hereby authorize(s) them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of all classes of common stock of DIRECT DIGITAL HOLDINGS, INC. that the stockholder(s) is/are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at 9:30 AM, Central Time on June 9, 2025, live via the internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DRCT2025.

The undersigned hereby also authorize(s) the proxy, in his or her discretion, to vote on any other business that may properly be brought before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof to the extent authorized by Rule 14a-4(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendations.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side